
Date Published: 23 January 2023     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 31 January 2023 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

2  Declarations of Interest 

To note any declarations of interest

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

3  Minutes 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2022 

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

4  Public Questions 

At each meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, there 
shall be up to 20 minutes set aside for members of the public, (including 
non-committee members), to make representation at the meeting. The 
process for submitting a representation to follow Gloucestershire County 
Council Constitution rules for making representation at public meetings.

The Council’s Constitution states that ‘any person who lives or works in the 
county, or is affected by the work of the County Council, may make written 
representation on any matter which relates to an item on the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda for that meeting’. 

Notification of the intention to make representation is required three clear 
working days before the date of the meeting, (excluding the day of the 
meeting). Where the person making representation attends the meeting in 
person, that individual will be invited to address the committee, (3 minutes 
per representative), to respond to the information provided in a reply to the 
original representation. The notification deadline to make representation at 
the committee meeting on 31 January 2023 is 4.00 pm on Wednesday 25 
January 2023.

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE



    

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  Ophthalmology (Pages 1 - 10)

A presentation on recent developments in the delivery of Ophthalmology 
Services by NHS Gloucestershire.

Presenting Officers: Kerry O’Hara and Dr Graham Mennie from NHS 
Gloucestershire and Alun Davies from the Sight Loss Council. 

NHS 
Gloucestershire

6  Gloucestershire Integrated Care Strategy (Pages 11 - 54)

A report on the development of Gloucestershire Integrated Care Strategy. 

NHS 
Gloucestershire 
Mary Hutton 

INFORMATION ITEMS

7  Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (GICS) Performance Report 
(Pages 55 - 80)

An update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System (GICS) in comparison to NHS constitutional and other agreed 
standards. 

NHS 
Gloucestershire
Mary Hutton

8  NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) Report (Pages 81 - 
106)

A report from the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB), known 
collectively as NHS Gloucestershire. The report to include updates from 
Integrated Care System (ICS) partners with responsibility for overseeing the 
day-to-day commissioning and provision of NHS services in 
Gloucestershire.

The Committee is asked to note Appendix 1 of the report, detailing an 
extension of temporary changes to maternity services at the Cheltenham 
General (AVETA) Birthing Unit and at the Stroud Hospital Birth Unit.

NHS 
Gloucestershire
Mary Hutton

9  Work Plan (Pages 107 - 110)

To note the dates of future meetings and to suggest items to include on the 
committee work plan.

14 March 2023
23 May 2023 
11 July 2023
10 October 2023 
28 November 2023

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

Membership – Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE (Chair), Cllr David Brown, Cllr Linda Cohen, 
Cllr David Drew (Vice-Chair), Cllr Stephan Fifield, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 



    

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson and Cllr Alan Preest

Co-opted Members - Cllr Stephan Andrews, Cllr Adrian Bamford, Cllr Helen Molyneux, Cllr 
Collette Finnegan, Cllr Helen Fenton and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at the meeting.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe; Monitoring Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, 
Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the meeting.
.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Substitution arrangements are in place for scrutiny meetings (please refer to the 

Gloucestershire County Council Constitution for details).
2. Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 

permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary 
arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not 
wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on 
duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

31 JANUARY 2023

Update on Eye Health Clinical Programme Group (CPG)

The mission of the eye health CPG is to provide a holistic approach to transform, 
integrate and lead on the development of Eye Health services in the county. The 
CPG aims to ensure patients receive the best experience by prioritising service user 
involvement and service quality, improving delivery of service and utilising public 
health intelligence to reduce variation.

The membership of the CPG include people with lived experience of visual 
impairment, organisations representing and providing services to people with a 
visual impairment, Gloucestershire ICB (GICB), Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT), community optometry and the independent sector.

At the beginning of the year the eye health CPG worked together to produce a 3-
year strategy for eye health in Gloucestershire. The strategy has agreed aims, and 
the activity needed to achieve those aims.

To support these aims we have developed 3 themes, Reducing Inequalities, Digital 
Transformation and Investing in our Workforce.

Reducing Inequalities

The CPG have developed two project areas to support the most vulnerable in our 
county.

Homeless Eyecare service

In partnership with the Gloucester City Mission and the charity Vision Care for 
Homeless we have established a weekly eye care clinic at the Mission. This service 
is entirely staffed by a volunteer rota of community optometrists and optician support 
staff. The clinic sees not just homeless people but anyone in sheltered 
accommodation and the refugee population. 

Often homeless people are not entitled to a free eye test and even if they are, would 
not access a high street optician due to the fear of the cost associated with 
purchasing spectacles. The majority of people seen in the clinic have not accessed a 
sight test for over 10 years. To date, 42 people have been seen in clinic and 81% 
needed spectacles which the clinic has been able to provide free of charge. 

In addition to this homeless people are known to have a higher eye care needs than 
the general population and 14% of the people seen in clinic have needed an onward 
referral into secondary care eye care services. The Ophthalmology Department at 
GHNHSFT have supported the charity in being able to make urgent referrals into the 
service.

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



REPORT TO HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

31 JANUARY 2023

The provision of spectacles will have implications for homeless people’s safety, their 
ability to access benefits and their ability to take medication correctly to name just a 
few of the wider benefits of this service.

Care of the Elderly (COTE) Ward Eye Care Liaison Officer (ECLO)

The ICB have commissioned an ECLO in the outpatient departments at GHNHSFT 
for many years. ECLOs act as an important bridge between health and social 
services and are central to the support and wellbeing of patients in eye clinics. They 
also help prevent avoidable sight loss, by talking through treatment and helping 
people to understand their medication if necessary. They will also help patients 
access local services, support with access to the correct benefits and provision of 
aids and adaptations.

ECLOs are common in outpatient departments but are not accessible to inpatients 
on wards. Last year, the RNIB who provide our ECLO service and the ophthalmology 
and care of the elderly teams at GHNHSFT decided to pilot a project to provide 
ECLO support to the COTE wards within GHNHSFT. The pilot showed that up to 
25% of patients on COTE wards had unmet eye health needs that had either 
impacted the admission or was delaying the discharge. The patients unmet eye 
health needs were having a significant impact on their daily living and ability to live 
independently.

Following the results of the pilot the ICB commissioned the RNIB to provide ECLO 
support to the COTE wards at Gloucester and Cheltenham. Of the patients seen to 
date, 27% have needed further support with either provision of spectacles, emotional 
support, aids and adaptations of onward referral. GHNHSFT have made urgent 
provision to be able to provide spectacles to inpatients or see them in the relevant 
clinic so that the patients discharge is supported, and they are not discharged 
without a plan in place for their eye health needs.

Digital Transformation

Community Ophthalmic Link 

Gloucestershire is the first area in the country to support the community optometrists 
with access to hospital eye images, data and referral information. The project is 
managed collaboratively between the ICB, the Ophthalmology department at 
GHNHSFT and the Local Optical Committee (LOC).

High street opticians are often the first port of call for patients experiencing eye care 
issues. The ICB already commissions several services from community optometrists 
on the high street, such as the urgent eye care service which was set up during 
covid for sudden onset eye problems such as flashes, floaters, vision loss or minor 
eye injuries. However, community optometrists do not hold a record of the patient in 

Page 2



REPORT TO HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

31 JANUARY 2023

the same way a GP would, even when they make a referral into secondary care, 
they do not receive information on the outcome of that referral. This often means that 
the default position for a community optometrist is to make a referral to hospital 
services.

National funding was secured to give all community optometrists in Gloucestershire 
access to secondary care data and images in order to understand the patients eye 
care history. There are currently only 2 practices in the county that do not have 
access to the system, with at least one more due to come on line shortly.

Optometrists are reporting a reduction in referrals to hospital for patients who can be 
managed in the community, access to the information improving the care of patients 
in the community and for those patients who still require a referral, that access to the 
patient’s history is ensuring they are referred to the right place, first time.

This digital connection between high street optometrists and secondary eye care 
services not only provides better care now but will allow us to look for more 
opportunities to provide eye care on the high street, reducing travel, increasing 
access and providing more care closer to home.

Investing in our Workforce

An important part of realising the ambition to provide more care closer to home is 
ensuring that we have a highly skilled workforce in the community.

Higher Education for community optometrists 

The Eye Health CPG was able to access funding from Health Education England 
(HEE) this year to support community optometrists with higher education. We are 
supporting 37 community optometrists with access to qualifications in low vision, 
medical retina, glaucoma and independent prescribing. This will mean we can look 
for opportunities for shared care with the hospital, meaning more patients can be 
cared for closer to their homes by appropriately qualified professionals. This is 
especially important within eye care, as it tends to be an as the majority of people 
with a visual impairment are older people who may find it harder to travel without 
support.

Raising Awareness of Visual Impairment

As noted earlier, the CPG places great emphasis on ensuring the voice of people 
with lived experience and awareness of their issues is central to our work. To this 
end, the CPG has supported work to raise awareness of visual impairment across 
primary and secondary services. A pilot vi awareness training session for primary 
care was undertaken in April, and visual impairment awareness information has 
been placed on the primary care intranet. The CPG played an active part in ensuring 

Page 3



REPORT TO HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

31 JANUARY 2023

the first South-West eye health patient summit that took place in November was 
entirely organised and led by people with a lived experience. 

The Eye Health CPG is keen to continue to innovate and advocate for eye health 
issues and will continue to look for opportunities to improve eye care for the 
residents of Gloucestershire.

Page 4



0

Eye Health Clinical Programme Group

Dr Graham Mennie, GP and Chair of the CPG

Alun Davies, Person with lived experience and 
Engagement Manager, Thomas Pocklington Trust

31st January 2023

P
age 5



Eye Health CPG – Purpose and Priorities

• The mission of the eye health CPG is to provide a holistic approach 
to transform, integrate and lead on the development of Eye Health 
services in the county. The CPG aims to ensure patients receive the 
best experience by prioritising service user involvement and 
service quality, improving delivery of service and utilising public 
health intelligence to reduce variation.

• The CPG has identified 3 priority areas,

• Reducing Inequalities

• Digital Transformation

• Investing in our Workforce

1

P
age 6



Reducing Inequalities

Homeless Eye Care Service

• Run in conjunction with the charity Vision Care for Homeless People (VCHP) and 
staffed entirely by a volunteer rota of community optometrists and optician support 
staff from across Gloucestershire.

• The majority of people seen in the clinic have not accessed a sight test for over 10 
years. 81% of people seen in clinic needed spectacles which the clinic has been 
able to provide free of charge.

• 14% of the people seen in clinic have needed an onward referral into secondary 
care eye care services. The Ophthalmology Department at GHNHSFT have 
supported the charity in being able to make urgent referrals into the service.

Care of the Elderly (COTE) Ward Eye Care Liaison Officer (ECLO)

• The ICB commissioned the RNIB to provide ECLO support to the COTE wards at 
Gloucester and Cheltenham. Of the patients seen to date, 27% have needed 
further support with either provision of spectacles, emotional support, aids and 
adaptations of onward referral. 

• GHNHSFT have made urgent provision to be able to provide spectacles to 
inpatients or see them in the relevant clinic so that the patients discharge is 
supported, and they are not discharged without a plan in place for their eye health 
needs.

2

P
age 7



Digital Transformation

Community Ophthalmic Link

• High street opticians are often the first port of call for patients 
experiencing eye care issues. However, community optometrists do not 
hold a record of the patient in the same way a GP would, even when they 
make a referral into secondary care, they do not receive information on 
the outcome of that referral.

• Gloucestershire is the first area in the country to support the community 
optometrists with access to hospital eye images, data and referral 
information. The project is managed collaboratively between the ICB, the 
Ophthalmology department at GHNHSFT and the Local Optical 
Committee (LOC).

• Only 2 practices in the county do not have access to the system with at 
least one of these to be connected shortly.

• Optometrists are reporting a reduction in referrals to hospital for patients 
who can be managed in the community, access to the information 
improving the care of patients in the community and for those patients 
who still require a referral, that access to the patient’s history is ensuring 
they are referred to the right place, first time.

3

P
age 8



Investing in our Workforce

Higher Education for community optometrists 

• An important part of realising the ambition to provide more care 
closer to home is ensuring that we have a highly skilled workforce 
in the community.

• We are supporting 37 community optometrists with access to 
qualifications in low vision, medical retina, glaucoma and 
independent prescribing.

• This will mean we can look for opportunities for shared care with 
the hospital, meaning more patients can be cared for closer to their 
homes by appropriately qualified professionals. This is especially 
important within eye care, as it tends to be an older population and 
the visually impaired who may find it harder to travel without 
support.

Raising Awareness for Visual Impairment

• Undertaking vi awareness training for primary care to ensure a 
better experience for patients with vi when accessing primary care.

4

P
age 9



Alun Davies

Person with lived experience

Engagement Manager, Thomas Pocklington Trust

Member of the Gloucestershire Eye Health CPG

5

P
age 10



Page 1 of 2

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
31 January 2023

Report Title Integrated Care Strategy
For Information For Discussion For DecisionPurpose

X

Meeting DateRoute to this 
meeting Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 

Partnership
22/12/22

Executive Summary Under the Health and Care Act 2022 the Gloucestershire Integrated Care System 
was formalised into a legal entity with two equally important and complementary 
components: 

 ICS NHS Body (Integrated Care Board - ICB) 
 Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)

In Gloucestershire the ICP is known as the One Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership. The Partnership brings together health care (including GP 
providers, community and hospital services, emergency 999 care and mental 
health and learning disability services), social care, public health and other public, 
voluntary and community sector partners. The One Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership work’s together collaboratively to achieve better health 
and wellbeing outcomes for Gloucestershire, with a key role in the planning and 
improvement of health and care. Working in partnership is vital because we know 
that things like lifestyle, education, income and employment, where people live and 
other social and environmental factors have an impact on health and wellbeing.  

The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) tasked Integrated Care 
Partnerships to develop Integrated Care Strategies in order to confirm the evidence-
based system wide priorities that will improve the publics’ health, care and 
wellbeing and reduce disparities. The One Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership has developed this interim Integrated Care Strategy based upon 
engagement with the public and in discussion with wider stakeholders across 
Gloucestershire. It is recognised nationally that 2022 and 2023 will be a transition 
period for health and care systems. Therefore, this is an interim strategy reflecting 
the need for it to be refreshed as the One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership develops and matures. The strategy builds on the great work already 
in place across our county, whilst recognising that working in a formalised 
partnership challenges us to go further with our ambitions. The One Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership are required to write a 5-year Integrated Care 
Strategy, but wanted to go beyond this, to set the direction for the next 10-20 years 
with a commitment to continue to evolve and develop this strategy as the 
partnership grows and partners learn from each other.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 2

Key Risks: Timeline
A condensed timeline was set by the DHSC to complete an initial version of the 
Integrated Care Strategy (December 2022). This created a risk that there would not 
be the opportunity to complete meaningful engagement with stakeholders to 
develop an Integrated Care Strategy with buy-in from all partners. 

Mitigation: Building on public engagement completed in early 2022, significant 
stakeholder engagement was completed October – December 2022 on the 
structure, focus and content of the Integrated Care Strategy. Furthermore, this has 
been agreed as an Interim Integrated Care Strategy, with a commitment to further 
develop the Integrated Care Strategy through 2023 as the One Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership grows. 

Resources
As a system we have increasingly worked together to improve how we use our 
resources, however the environment we now face is much more challenging. In 
common with other parts of the country we face very significant financial headwinds, 
as we respond to the ongoing impacts on our population and workforce of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and cost of living situation. Such pressures can make it very 
challenging to focus beyond the immediate issues, therefore limiting our opportunity 
to explore how we can work differently in order create meaningful change for the 
future. 

Mitigation: We are working together to look at how we are spending our money 
and focus our time and whether we are delivering best value and outcomes for our 
population. Despite the substantial challenges we are committed to working 
together to create the best value for the ‘Gloucestershire pound’ and deliver the 
changes our population want to see. 

Author Becky Willmoth Role Title Senior Operational Planning 
Lead

Sponsoring Director
(if not author)

Mary Hutton, NHS Gloucestershire, Chief Executive Officer 
Siobhan Farmer, Director of Public Health

Glossary of Terms Explanation or clarification of abbreviations used in the paper
ICP Integrated Care Partnership
DHSC Department of Health and Social Care
ICB Integrated Care Board

Page 12



1 
 

 

 

 

P
age 13



Foreword 
 

By working together, we can make Gloucestershire the healthiest place to live and 

work, championing equity in life chances and the best health and care outcomes for 

all.  

 

Under the Health and Care Act 2022 the Gloucestershire Integrated Care System 

was formalised into a legal entity with a newly established ‘One Gloucestershire 

Health & Wellbeing Partnership’. This presents a golden opportunity to build on our 

commitment to partnership working to make a real difference to the health, care and 

wellbeing of people who live or work in Gloucestershire. We have a long history 

of good working relationships in our county, and we intend to take this opportunity to 

go further and draw on the assets of all our partners including our communities to 

ensure people in Gloucestershire can live happy and healthy lives.  

 

We serve a population of over 660,000 people across urban and rural areas and enjoy 

relatively good health overall in the county. Average life expectancy at birth is 80 

years for males and 84 years for females1, which is above the England average. On 

average, people in Gloucestershire enjoy 67 years in good health. However, these 

figures mask significant, unfair and systematic differences in health and wellbeing 

between different groups of people. People living in the wealthiest areas of the county 

experience on average 11 years longer of ‘healthy life’ compared with those in the 

least wealthy areas.  Such differences are unacceptable and avoidable, and by 

working together we can drive forward improvements in population health and create 

equity for all.  

 

This interim Integrated Care Strategy has been developed by the One 

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Partnership, based upon engagement with the 

public and in discussion with wider stakeholders across Gloucestershire. It is 

recognised nationally that 2022 and 2023 will be a transition period for health and 

care systems. Therefore, this is an interim strategy reflecting the need for it to be 

refreshed as the One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership develops 

and matures. Within this version, we build on the great work already in place across 

our county, whilst recognising that working in a formalised partnership challenges us 

to go further with our ambitions. We are required to write a 5-year Integrated Care 

Strategy, but we want to go beyond this, to set the direction for the next 10-20 years 

with a commitment to continue to evolve and develop this strategy as our partnership 

grows and we learn from each other.  

 

As a system we have increasingly worked together to improve how we use our 

resources, however the environment we now face is much more challenging. In 

common with other parts of the country we face very significant financial headwinds, 

as we respond to the ongoing impacts on our population and workforce of the COVID-

19 pandemic and cost of living situation. These pressures exist on top of the 

financially challenged position we faced prior to the pandemic. In response we are 

working together to look at how we are spending our money and whether we are 

delivering best value and outcomes for our population. Despite these substantial 

challenges we are committed to creating the best value for the ‘Gloucestershire 

pound’ and delivering the changes our population want. 

 

This strategy is our One Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Partnership blueprint for 

delivering better health and care with and for the people of Gloucestershire. Building 

on existing strategies and partnerships, there is a clear focus on prevention, ensuring 

independence, resilience and equity through working in collaboration with our 

communities. It builds upon the current Health and Wellbeing Strategy and re-affirms 

our local vision for integrated health and care, setting ambitious goals for our local 

system and improved health outcomes for local people. We will drive and enhance 

integrated approaches and collaborative working at every level - where these can 

improve planning, service delivery and outcomes.  

 

This document is designed to guide our health and care 

organisations, staff, voluntary and community sector, and 

our people and communities, to work together to achieve 

the common goal of better health and wellbeing for our 

population. It sets out how we are already working 

together to make transformational changes in health, care 

and wellbeing; and details our ambitions for the future.  

 

Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin  

Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning. Chair of One 

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership

 
1 Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework   

P
age 14

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/402/are/E10000013/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1


3 
 

1. Introduction  
From 1 July 2022, the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System became a legal entity, progressing 

our existing partnership which brings together NHS, social care, public health and other public, 

voluntary and community sector organisations to build a healthier Gloucestershire. We know that by 

working together we can support and enable people to live well and provide high-quality joined-up care 

when people need it. 

We have been an Integrated Care System since 2018 and already have a well-developed approach 

to working together with examples of joint commissioning, shared delivery and aligned budgets. As a 

system, we have worked well to progress new integrated care models for our patients and have 

prioritised developing positive relationships, building trust, and engaging with and enabling 

communities and individuals. Across Gloucestershire we have strong Primary Care Networks and 

Integrated Locality Partnerships (see section 7.1), supported by integrated teams who are improving 

patient access and experience, delivering outcomes which enhance wellbeing and independence, and 

improving health equity.  

This interim Integrated Care Strategy identifies the good work already underway in the county and 

reconfirms our direction of travel over the coming years, including our ambitions as a system. One 

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership has only had a short time together and therefore 

as the partnership grows, we commit to further developing our Integrated Care Strategy through 2023, with the intention of developing a social contract with 

partners and the public. We believe this should be an iterative process that will deliver discernible change and therefore the Integrated Care Strategy should be 

a live document that remains responsive to the challenges and opportunities that arise over the coming years. As such, whilst this strategy seeks to set the 

direction for the next 10-20 years, there will be a regular process of review and exploration to ensure it continues to pave the way for partners, communities and 

individuals to work collaboratively to achieve the best health, care and wellbeing for all.  

Over the last few years, health and care systems have faced additional challenges which have tested their resilience and ability to respond (box 2).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 1: The audience for the Interim Integrated 

Care Strategy  
 

This interim Integrated Care Strategy has been created 

by and for health, care, and wellbeing partner 

organisations across Gloucestershire. The purpose of 

this interim version of the Integrated Care Strategy is to 

support strategic alignment across the county, thereby 

allowing partners to identify further opportunities to work 

together to make Gloucestershire the healthiest place 

to live and work, championing equity in life chances and 

the best health and care outcomes for all. 

A further version of this strategy, with the people of 

Gloucestershire as the intended audience, will be 

produced during 2023 as part of an iterative process of 

review and engagement. 

P
age 15



 

Box 2: Recent system wide challenges  

COVID-19 
The COVID-19 pandemic tested 
health and care services globally and 
shone a light on health inequalities. It 
quickly became evident that the 
interconnections between factors 
such as race, gender and geography 
were associated with an increased 
risk of becoming ill or dying with a 
disease such as COVID-19. Whilst 
the pandemic tested our resilience it 
also demonstrated the strength of our 
communities in supporting health and 
wellbeing.  

Cost of l iving  

The UK cost-of-living rise began in late 
2021 and continues to escalate. This 
period has seen a fall in “real” disposable 
incomes. It affects all households to some 
extent, but the Economic Observatory 
reports that “it is disproportionately 
affecting poorer households. With fewer 
resources to cover rising bills, many are 
taking on debt just to get by”. These 
financial pressures present a significant 
risk to the physical and mental health and 
wellbeing of the local population, 
particularly among the more vulnerable. 
 

Emerging health protection 
threats  

Since COVID-19, there have continued to 
be emerging infectious disease threats 
such as Monkeypox. Since May 2022, 
cases have been reported in multiple 
countries that do not usually have 
Monkeypox, including the UK.  While 
usually self-limiting, severe illness can 
occur in some individuals. Vaccination is 
being offered to protect individuals at 
higher risk of exposure and reduce the 
spread of disease.  In Gloucestershire this 
is being delivered by the Specialist Sexual 
Health service. 
 

Global displacement  
The number of people forced to flee 
their homes has increased every year 
over the past decade and stands at the 
highest level since records began 
(UNHCR’s annual Global Trends 
report, 2021). A number of asylum and 
migration schemes are in place to 
support the resettlement of individuals 
displaced by global events and nearly 
2,700 individuals have arrived in 
Gloucestershire through such scheme, 
including 1302, people via the UK’s 
new ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme. 

  

There are also some key long-term challenges facing our system, which include:  
 

• An ageing and growing population with evolving healthcare needs, such as the increase in the prevalence of obesity and diabetes, or antibiotic 
resistance.  

• Medical advancements that save lots of lives every year but push up annual costs to the NHS by an estimated additional £10bn a year. 

• Workforce recruitment and retention challenges are increasing across the system with high levels of vacancies, leading to heavier demands on the 
workforce and a corresponding impact on the quality of care.   

• Financial challenges as we respond to the ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 legacy and the cost of living situation upon our population and workforce, 
on top of the financially challenged position we faced prior to the pandemic. This will require us to make difficult decisions together to be able to deliver 
our overall system objectives. 

• Climate change affects the social and environmental determinants of health – clean air, safe drinking water, sufficient food and secure shelter which 

exacerbates long-term conditions and a negatively impacts on mental health and wellbeing.  

• Increased use of technology to deliver things that people rely on to survive and thrive means that those who are not online are becoming 

increasingly disadvantaged and disconnected. 

• Changes in demands on the wider system due to societal changes such as retirement age, travel, household composition etc.   

 

These challenges have highlighted the strength in system wide collaboration and integrated working. We know that by working together we can better respond 
to the challenges facing us today, but also improve health outcomes and address health inequalities over the longer-term. It is evident from the ever-changing 
context that, whilst our system needs to be clear on where we are going, there also needs to be built-in flexibility and agility to accommodate how we get 

there.  

P
age 16



5 
 

2. One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership  

 

Under the Health and Care Act 2022, section 26, and Health and social care integration: joining up care for people, places and populations (DHSC, 2022) there 

is a statutory duty to form an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). Our ICP is referred to as the One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership. 

 

The One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership 

(GHWP) leads and oversees the delivery of this Integrated Care 

Strategy, which agrees the mandate for key programmes of 

work, and holds to account the system delivery infrastructure, 

through which health, care and wellbeing improvements are 

pursued within defined timescales. The GHWP aims to ensure 

that intelligence and involvement from localities, districts and 

communities are core to how it operates and to remove barriers 

to delivery across the system. 

The GHWP and the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 

Board (GHWB) have a very close interface. We have described 

it as ‘operating with a semi-permeable membrane’ whereby 

there are members of the GHWP who will also either be 

members of the GHWB or be invited to attend specific GHWB 

meetings.  

There are already a large number of system wide priorities 

including priorities from the GHWB, strategic partnerships such 

as Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC-I) and 

Healthy Communities Together, and the work delegated to and 

led through Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) and Integrated 

Locality Partnerships (ILPs). These priorities cannot be 

delivered by the public sector alone. Civic society, and our 

communities, are essential to the success of achieving positive 

outcomes in each of these priorities. The GHWP will work to add 

value to the delivery of agreed programmes, in line with shared 

priorities. Striving for health equity will be the golden thread 

through the work it oversees or supports.   

Box 3  

 

P
age 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations#leadership-accountability-and-finance


3.  Introducing our vision 
In accepting the challenge to develop this interim Integrated Care Strategy for Gloucestershire, we 

sought to build on the evidence, engagement, and good work already underway in our system. We 

identified multiple strategies and documents that describe the great work already taking place and 

sought to understand how we can bring these together under the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 

Partnership (GHWP).   

A comprehensive public engagement exercise (Part 1) was undertaken during January to March 2022, 

asking local people how they would like to be involved, and the areas or issues they wanted us to 

consider, as we developed the strategy. We asked for the top three things people thought we could do 

to improve health and wellbeing in our county (summarised in the Output of Engagement Report 1). 

Further engagement (Part 2) to develop this interim strategy was targeted at stakeholders rather than 

the wider public, whose views have already shaped this document. Through this further engagement 

we iteratively developed the vision, principles and structure of the strategy, testing and reviewing this 

with our partners (a summary of the engagement can be found here).  

  

 

 

 

  

Box 4: Feedback themes from engagement (Part 1) 

• Preventing ill-health and promoting the benefits of 
staying well 

• Addressing the ‘wider things’ (determinants) that 
can impact on people’s health and wellbeing  

• Developing the role of primary care and 

community services in improving access, 
supporting independence and joining up care in 
neighbourhoods  

• Improving mental health support - including 
prevention, access and reducing social isolation 
and loneliness 

• Improving access to services and the 
effectiveness of care - including personalised care 
(care tailored to the individual’s needs)  

• Developing stronger partnerships with the 
voluntary and community sector.  

 

P
age 18

https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/13491/widgets/55688/documents/32249
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/ics-gloucestershire


7 
 

4. Strategy on a page 
Translating what we have heard from our engagement, we have identified 3 overarching ‘pillars’ and 3 ‘conditions for change’.  

P
age 19



 

5. Understanding wellbeing, prevention and health equity  
5.1 Wellbeing 
Throughout this strategy we talk about health and ‘wellbeing’. Simply put, wellbeing is about ‘how we are doing’ as individuals and communities. It encompasses 

the environmental factors that affect us, and the experiences we have throughout our lives. Whilst this is a broad concept, the Care Act 2014 described it as 

relating specifically to the following areas: 

 

• Personal dignity (including treatment of the individual with respect)  

• Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

• Protection from abuse and neglect 

• Control by the individual over day-to-day life (including over care and 

support provided and the way it is provided) 

• Participation in work, education, training or recreation 

• Social and economic wellbeing 

• Domestic, family and personal 

• Suitability of living accommodation 

• The individual’s contribution to society 

 

5.2 Prevention 
We must prioritise prevention, early intervention, 

and tackling the causes of health inequalities. 

Prevention must be embedded across all our work. 

Prevention is about helping people stay healthy, 

happy and independent for as long as possible. It 

means stopping problems from arising in the first 

place; focusing on keeping people healthy and 

thriving, not just treating them when they become 

ill. It’s not only preventing illness and dependency, 

but actively promoting a positive state of health and 

wellbeing. We need to be mindful that prevention 

activity should not widen inequalities. So, we need 

to resource and deliver universal prevention but at 

a scale and intensity proportionate to the degree of 

need. 

 

Prevention can be understood in terms of 

contributing to ‘today’s issues’ whilst also seeking 

to avoid ‘tomorrow’s.’ The benefits of a preventative approach can be quickly seen for our citizens and the services that we provide. At a population level, health 

improvement opportunities which look to prevent the need for treatment services are more cost effective than treating people. We are serious about refocusing 

upstream, and therefore we will place an emphasis on ‘primary prevention’ (see Figure 1). 

Figure 1 

P
age 20



9 
 

5.3  Health equity and health inequalities 
Health equity is realised when every individual has a fair opportunity to achieve their full health 

potential. Differences in health status, access to care, treatment, and outcomes between 

individuals and across populations that are systemic, avoidable, predictable, and unjust are often 

referred to as health inequalities (or disparities). These differences occur between people or groups 

due to social, geographical, biological, or other factors. These differences result in people who are 

worst off missing out on life chances, experiencing poorer health and having shorter lives. 

 

Health inequalities can relate to: 

• Health status e.g. healthy life expectancy 

• Access to high quality care e.g. access to clinical appointments 

• Quality and experience of care e.g. patient satisfaction 

• Health and care outcomes e.g. long term condition management 

• Behavioural risks to health e.g. alcohol consumption 

• Wider determinants of health e.g. quality of housing, long term unemployment 

A wide range of groups in our population are at greater risk of experiencing health inequalities. 

These groups overlap; as individuals we are not defined by a single characteristic (see figure 2). Across all of the pillars (see section 4), we are committed to 

prioritising prevention and achieving health equity. This runs as a golden thread through the strategy. Furthermore, we recognise that this strategy needs to take 

into account assets and needs of the whole population. As such, a life-course approach also acts as a golden thread through the strategy.  

Our commitments to prevention and health equity are: 

• Advocating for, and leading on, prevention across our system: – we recognise that every individual, community and organisation has a role in prevention 

and want to support the development of those roles even further.  

• Providing a strategic oversight of prevention and health inequalities in our system to enable a better understanding of impact and areas to prioritise.   

• Addressing the biggest risk factors causing preventable premature death or disease.  

• Supporting communities to be resilient, connected, healthy, happy, and safe so that everybody can start, live and age well. 

 

In 12 months, we will see: 

• Clear system governance for prevention and health inequalities  

• Plans to ensure a basic level of understanding of prevention across the 

system  

• Agreed system matrix for measuring the impact of prioritising prevention. 

In 5 years, we will see: 

• Prevention embedded in health, care and wellbeing policies and 

programmes across our system. 

• All staff and partners working in our system have a basic understanding of 

prevention and their role in prevention.  

• Prevention activity embedded across the Core 20 plus 5 work (see section 

8.2.2). 

 

Figure 2: The overlapping dimensions of health inequalities 

 

 

P
age 21



6. Gloucestershire: Understanding our population  
The health of people in Gloucestershire is generally better than the England average. Gloucestershire is among the 20% least deprived counties/unitary 

authorities in England. Average life expectancy is 80 years for males and 84 for females, which is better than national averages. However, this is not evenly 

P
age 22



11 
 

distributed across the county. Furthermore, the demographics and the needs of our population are changing (See OHID, Fingertips). It is important to note that 

2021 census data is currently being released and therefore this data section will be updated in future iterations of this strategy.  

 

 
 

6.1 The case for change 
To make Gloucestershire a better place for the future, there is an urgent need for 

effective approaches to prevention, particularly ‘upstream’ interventions which impact 

on the wider determinants of health and wellbeing (economic, social and environmental 

factors).  

 

Some causes of death can be avoided or 

delayed through effective public health and 

primary prevention 

interventions. According to the Global 

Burden of Disease (GBD) study in 2019, 

the top five risk factors contributing to 

avoidable deaths in England are smoking, 

poor diet, high blood pressure, obesity, and 

alcohol and drug use. Furthermore, it is 

estimated that 40% of the demand on 

health services in England could be 

avoided if we acted on these risk factors. 

Preventable ill-health has been estimated 

to account for 50% of all GP appointments, 

64% of outpatient appointments and 70% 

of all inpatient bed days (BMA, 2018).  

 

These risk factors for preventable ill health and deaths are underpinned by wider social drivers. The wider (or social) 

determinants of health refer to the social, cultural, political, economic, commercial and environmental factors that 

shape the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age.  As illustrated in figure 4, it is estimated that 

approximately 84% of what determines our health is contributed by non-healthcare factors such as social 

circumstances (47%), and health behaviour patterns (34%) such as diet, smoking, physical activity and alcohol 

Pillar 1:  Making Gloucestershire a better place for the future 

Figure 3 

 
 

Figure 4 

 

P
age 23

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1


intake. Prioritising prevention will improve the population’s health, protect the NHS, and allow more people to stay healthy and independent for longer. 

 

The case for investing in prevention is compelling. Despite this, only around 4% of the UK health budget is spent on prevention (The Health Foundation, 2016). 
Prioritising prevention will improve the population’s health, protect the NHS, and allow more people to live longer healthier lives.  
 

In prioritising prevention, we will focus on identified assets and needs in Gloucestershire, draw from evidence of what works, and recognise the valuable 

strengths, assets and enablers that are already in place and which need to be maintained.  

 

6.2 How are we already creating change? 
 

6.2.1 Strategic oversight - Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (GHWB) vision is that ‘Gloucestershire is a place where 

everyone can live well, be healthy and thrive’. The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2019 – 

2030 sets out key priorities, which focus particularly on addressing wider determinants of health, and some 

elements of primary prevention. GHWB is focusing on seven priorities - selected based on data and intelligence 

as well as stakeholder input. Progress against the priorities is delivered through county-wide partnerships, 

strategies and plans 

6.2.2 Addressing wider determinants of health   
The GHWB strategy has a strong focus on the social drivers for health and wellbeing. However, there are other 

wider determinants of health which are addressed in other parts of our system: 

 

DATA AND INTELLIGENCE:  

In 2020/21 there were 64.9% 

adults that live with obesity or being 
overweight in Gloucestershire 

compared with 63.5% in England 

10.3% of Reception aged children 

who are living with obesity in 
Gloucestershire, compared with 

9.9% in England 

In 2020, 11.6% of adults in 

Gloucestershire smoked tobacco 
which is in line with the England rate 

of 12.1% 

In 2019/20 only 12.25% of adult 

self-reported that they walk for travel 
at least three days per week. This is 

significantly worse than England 

value of 15.1% 

51% of adult social care users over 18 years feel as 

though they have as much social contact as they would 

like compared to the England average 45.9% 

In 2022, 1 in 4 (26%) of all Gloucestershire 

pupils reported low mental wellbeing. An increase 

of 9.5 percentage points since 2016 (16.5%). 

Over half of Y10 female pupils report 

low mental wellbeing in Gloucestershire 

Box 5: GHWB priorities 

• Physical activity 

• Adverse childhood experiences 

• Mental wellbeing 

• Social isolation and loneliness 

• Healthy lifestyles 

• Early years and best start in life 

• Housing and health. 

 

P
age 24

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106328/gcc_2596-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy_dev12.pdf#:~:text=Gloucestershire%E2%80%99s%20firstJoint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%2C%20Fit%20for,development%20sessions%20and%20formed%20new%20ways%20of%20working.
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106328/gcc_2596-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy_dev12.pdf#:~:text=Gloucestershire%E2%80%99s%20firstJoint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%2C%20Fit%20for,development%20sessions%20and%20formed%20new%20ways%20of%20working.


13 
 

Box 6: Explanation of the social, economic and environmental determinants 

Social factors 

A wide range of social factors influence our 
health and wellbeing, from how we connect 
with people in our community to how safe we 
feel. For example, a fear of crime may be a 
barrier to individuals engaging in health 
improving activities, including outdoor 
activities (such as walking and cycling) or 
connecting with neighbours. This is addressed 
through the county wide partnership Safer 
Gloucestershire with the  
Gloucestershire Community Safety Strategy.  

Economic factors 

Being in a good, stable job is an important determinant of 
health and wellbeing. The long-term unemployed have a 
lower life expectancy and worse health than those in work. 
The effect of unemployment does not just affect individuals. 
Children growing up in workless households are almost twice 
as likely to fail at all stages of education compared with 
children growing up in working families. We also know that a 
healthy and happy workforce is a more productive one. So, 
what’s good for health can also be good for the economy. 
Gloucestershire’s Local Industrial Strategy (2019) focuses on 
how we drive productivity and prosperity in our county and 
support an inclusive economy.  

Environmental factors 

Modifiable environmental factors, such as outdoor air 
pollution, damp housing, exposure to hazardous 
materials at work and built environments that discourage 
physical activity. These influence health and wellbeing. 
For example, air pollution is one of the major 
environmental determinants of health. Long-term 
exposure to air pollution causes chronic conditions such 
as cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, as well as 
lung cancer, leading to reduced life expectancy. The 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health strategy 
describes the strategic approach to improving air quality 
and mitigating its impact on health. 

 

6.2.3 Looking across the life course 
A life course approach considers the critical stages, transitions, and settings where large differences can be made in improving or restoring health and wellbeing.  
This approach means identifying opportunities for minimising risk factors and enhancing protective factors through evidence-based interventions at important 

life stages. Looking through a life course lens stimulates action on the wider determinants of health, both to address negative risk factors and build empowered 

and resilient individuals and communities. 

The Child Friendly Coalition brings together a diverse range of agencies from across all sectors, with a shared commitment to improving outcomes for children 

and young people in the county. Working together to create a child friendly Gloucestershire (2022) is a strategy which sets out the overarching aim for 

Gloucestershire to become a ‘child friendly county’, within which all partners view children and young people as an asset to be valued and nurtured for the future. 

Immediate priorities for action include pre-birth to 5 years, mental health, and emotional wellbeing, as well as transition from education to business or further 

education. These reflect the views of children and young people, the emerging evidence of the extent and nature of the impact of COVID-19, and key aspects 

of local performance in the health and care of children and young people. 

Box 7: This Mum Can campaign 
In 2019 Gloucestershire County Council commissioned a social marketing pilot using sustainability and transformation plan prevention 

funding to develop a campaign to promote breastfeeding amongst young mums in areas of Gloucester City where prevalence rates are 

lowest. The outcome was the This Mum Can campaign (@thismumcanglos on Instagram) which includes humorous, informative, and 

affirmative messages as well as the innovative ‘champion’ model where real Gloucester based young mums share their story for a small 

incentive. The team have also delivered a series of webinars delivered by breastfeeding and child health experts and face to face 

breastfeeding support groups. The campaign achieved good reach and feedback from followers showed approximately 2 in 3 (67%) 

women agreed that This Mum Can encouraged them to start/continue breastfeeding, 82% said the campaign made them feel 

empowered and 2 in 3 (68%) women stated they felt more confident to breastfeed in public. In response we’re now looking to embed 

the campaign through our Children and Family Centres and expand the remit across broader health promotion messages.  

P
age 25

file://///svrshir157/zclifford$/Downloads/OPCC-Safer-Strategy-Infographics%20(2).pdf
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https:/www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/ics-gloucestershire


6.2.4 Focusing on primary prevention 
There is already a great deal of innovative work across the system aiming to keep people 

healthy, for example the women’s South Asian healthy weight programme outlined in box 8. 

However, there would be benefit to having a greater system overview of this work to understand 

what is working well, make links between programmes and acknowledge where we need to give 

more focus.  

 

6.2.5 Preventing the spread of infectious diseases and environmental hazards 
We consider communicable (infectious) disease health protection risks collaboratively through 

the Health Protection Assurance Board involving UKHSA, local authorities and the NHS who 

have health protection responsibilities to deliver improved outcomes for the population and 

communities served. This complements the Local Health Resilience Partnership which takes 

action to ensure that health and care services are prepared to respond to health protection 

emergencies including environmental hazards.  

 

6.3 Our ambitions 
To make Gloucestershire a better place for the future we need to:  

1. Improve and protect health and wellbeing  

2. Reduce premature mortality  

3. Increase healthy life expectancy  

4. Close the gap in healthy life expectancy between different areas and population groups within the county. 

 

Through system wide ownership and commitment to making Gloucestershire a better place for the future, we must embed prevention in everything we do. 

Delivery of this pillar is through the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.   

Box 8: Women’s South Asian healthy weight 

programme  

Gloucestershire healthy lifestyles service has delivered a 

healthy weight programme for South Asian women in 

Gloucester.  The programme was co-designed with women to 

ensure it met the specific needs of women from that 

community and the needs of their families.  Members of the 

community were also involved in the delivery of the 

programme with community champions being paid to help 

deliver some sessions. The 12-week programme included 

physical activity taster sessions (offered via GL1), healthy 

eating sessions, and health talks on the menopause, diabetes 

and mental wellbeing.   

Participant feedback about the programme was very positive 

and most participants increased their physical activity levels 

and lost weight. The programme will continue to be developed 

over the coming year. 

P
age 26



15 
 

7.1 The case for change 
Great ideas exist at a local level, people are proud of their communities and there is great value in making 

decisions as close to communities as possible; “nothing about us, without us”. There are many different 

‘layers’ to working together and lots of good examples of working at locality, neighbourhood and ‘hyper-

local’ (very small community) levels across Gloucestershire, through capitalising on community strengths, 

local knowledge and drive to make things better. 
 

• Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILPs): are non-statutory partnerships of Local Government, NHS, 

Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, housing and increasingly communities, 

people and wider partners such as police, education etc. Their aim is to: 

▪ proactively reduce the impact of root causes of health inequalities  

▪ improve health and wellbeing   

▪ work collectively to redesign care for and with people in the locality to enable people to live well 

at home. 

There are 6 ILPs in Gloucestershire, aligned to the 6 districts – although there are some differences 

between ILPs and districts due to the locations of some GP practices. 

• Primary Care Networks (PCNs): groups of GP practices working together in partnership with 

community, mental health, social care, pharmacy, hospital and voluntary services, in a joined-up way to 

provide care closer to home. There are 15 PCNs in Gloucestershire. 

• My village/suburb: Communities working together at a hyper-local level. 
 

7.2 How are we already creating change? 
An overarching plan for developing Integrated Locality Partnerships across Gloucestershire (2022 -2025), is being drafted. Working countywide does not work 

for everything and some localism is required to reflect differing population needs, the impact of existing community strengths (e.g. assets and services) and 

geographical differences such as rurality. Engaging with the 15 PCNs in Gloucestershire would not be easy or efficient for all partners. ILPs, by joining together 

partners around one or more PCN or neighbourhood population, give an achievable scale for meaningful and impactful partnership working. This mechanism 

also gives us an opportunity to recognise and contribute to the wider determinants of health, rather than focusing solely on clinical interventions. Alongside 

locality and neighbourhood working, we need to be mindful that there are positive examples of community-led activities at a hyper-local level; driven by 

communities themselves, and these need encouragement to flourish. These are communities with purpose, understanding and drive to improve the lives of their 

residents, friends or families, and who have a voice, opinions, and solutions. We need to work as a system to encourage and support these initiatives; and not 

look to control them. A great example of purposeful community-led activity and action is ‘The Power of Three’ (see box 9).    

Pillar 2: Transforming what we do           Community and locality focused approach   

Figure 5 

 
 

P
age 27



7.3 Our ambitions 
Acknowledging the importance of relationship building as foundational to meaningful work at any level, we need to move towards reporting on and measuring 

the relationships, behaviours and actions that underpin success rather than just measuring interventions. An inclusive approach to broadening memberships of 

ILP meetings and related priority projects needs to continue, as does the more meaningful engagement with people and communities. There will be least one 

overarching system principle for all ILPs to ‘deliver in a way that makes sense locally’. This will help to bring forward delivery and sharing across 

localities.  Scalability of successful schemes does not mean exact replication. It involves acknowledging and managing the human factors of sustainable change, 

packaging the ‘principles for scalability’ rather than a wholesale ‘lift and shift’ or expecting the same outcomes in different areas.   
 

In 12 months, we will see: 

• Greater involvement of people, communities and VCSEs in priority projects across 

localities, learning from the successes and challenges of strengths-based projects, with 
a focus on improving independence and health equity.  This will result in meaningful 
impact for, and with, people in our communities.    

• Some system direction but local delivery in a way that makes sense to the local context, 
with clarity of where working at scale across the county makes sense, and where local 
adaptation, closest to communities will have greatest impact.    

• Strong governance with accountability for delivering transformational change and an 
acceptance that much of the impact will be felt in the medium to longer term, and that 
interventions may contribute to positive change rather than be fully attributable.  

• Consideration of resource allocation, human and financial, for longer term strategic 

direction of ILPs.   

In 5 years, we will see:  

• Strong, mature partnerships in each locality, with wider membership 

committed to partnership thinking by default for the shared purpose of 
collectively and proactively tackling the root cause of health inequalities 
and improving health and wellbeing in each locality and within the 
constituent neighbourhoods.    

• Measuring the relationships, behaviours and actions that underpin 
success/failure rather than just the interventions developed and 
supported by recurrent funding, however small, for sustainable impact. 

• Communities empowered to build on their strengths, assets and 
relationships, to positively impact population health and wellbeing, with 
more people living well in their communities. 

• Clearer alignment between priorities and resource allocation.  

Box 9: The Power of Three – Matson, Robinswood and White City community 

partnership 

Over the last five years the Power of Three project, run by the Matson, 

Robinswood and White City Community Partnership, has worked together to 

tackle the negative images of the ward. The community has gone from strength to 

strength and the results have been local understanding of issues and a ‘what can 

we do for ourselves’ approach alongside closer links with statutory bodies (but in 

partnership) and working to support individuals, families and statutory 

services/agencies to engage more effectively capitalising on existing relationships 

and a true understanding of issues, challenges, strengths and opportunities. 

 

The partnership has gained in confidence and engages with external agencies to 

represent their community and to be partners in co-creation. They have developed 

a ‘Power of Three’ economic development plan, setting out six purposes to lay the 

economic, environmental, social and development potential as well as 

opportunities to layer in context specific to the ward and recognise the benefit of 

collaborative working. 

Box 10: Gloucester City ILP respiratory and housing project 

There is clear evidence of the association between respiratory conditions and an 

individual’s housing conditions. Working with other ILP partners, Gloucester City Homes, 

the local independent housing association, wanted to address housing related factors 

connected with respiratory issues for their tenants. We know that bringing together the 

right partners and people that are close to the communities we serve brings about 

positive, strengths-focussed change.  

 

The project focuses on the connection between the treatment of respiratory conditions 

and the home environment as a wider determinant of health. It initially aims to improve 

and quantify the care and health outcomes of 20 Gloucester City Homes tenants 

presenting with respiratory concerns in NHS settings. The identification of the cohort in 

this way triggers an assessment with required housing improvements made and thermal 

efficiency ratings carried out. The purpose is to supply evidence to support multi agency 

working for this group of patients and social housing tenants. An additional peripheral or 

indirect benefit of the project is further developing partnership working to support 

sustainable transformation across the ILP for the benefit of the population we serve. 

P
age 28



17 
 

8.1 Case for change 
The pandemic has highlighted longstanding, systemic and avoidable inequalities or disparities in health status, access and experience of care, health outcomes 

and the wider social factors which influence health. There is a need to achieve equity to ensure everyone has a fair opportunity to achieve their health potential. 

There are many overlapping factors which can lead to health inequalities and people are often affected by more than one.  
 

DATA AND INTELLIGENCE:   

There are 31 neighbourhoods 

(Lower Layer Super Output 
Areas2 or LSOAs for short) in 
Gloucestershire which fall within 

the 20% most deprived 
nationally. 

10.9% of children 
under 16 years old are 

living in absolute low-
income families in 
Gloucestershire. 

You are likely to live 11 years 

longer in good health if you live 
in least deprived area of 
Gloucestershire compared to if 

you lived in the most deprived 
area of the county. 

The excess mortality rate for 
those with severe mental illness 
(SMI) was 

significantly higher than 
the national average in 
Gloucestershire between 2018-
2020. 

In Gloucestershire the gap 
in employment between 
the those with a learning 

disability and the general 
population is significantly 
higher than the England 
average. 

8.2 How are we already creating change? 
As health inequalities are far reaching, no single intervention or strategy will address the wide and diverse issues faced, collective effort is needed. It is recognised 

that there is already much work happening across the county to achieve equity and in doing so address and reduce health inequalities; however, the challenge 

is achieving this across the system at scale and sustainably.  

 

8.2.1 System level change: Using the population intervention triangle3 as a framework for action 
The Population Intervention Triangle (PIT) is a national framework which was developed through practical experience working to achieve measurable population 

level change in health and wellbeing outcomes - including addressing health inequalities between and within local geographies. We have been using this model 

to understand where we can have the greatest impact and how to focus system leadership and planning. The model addresses the need for action on civic, 

service and community segments (see below). Joint working across the interfaces between these three segments is also needed to enable the whole to become 

more than the sum of its parts. This model offers a framework to enable the system to work across all segments, and to also step outside of traditional roles and 

boundaries. This combination of approaches is essential for developing and building complex, adaptive approaches to effect change at population level, achieve 

equity and reduce inequalities. 
 

 
2 Lower-layer Super Output Areas (or LSOA for short): small areas designed to be of a similar population size, with an average of approximately 1,500 residents or 650 households. 
3 Place-based approaches for reducing health inequalities: main report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Pillar 2: Transforming what we do.                         Achieving Equity   

P
age 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report


(i) Strengthen community action 
Within this ‘seam’, the role of civic authorities is to support local communities (of neighbourhood, culture, 

interest) to become empowered, resilient and independent, enabling them to support individuals and 
families to take more control of their health and wellbeing. An example of our work within this seam is 
‘Levelling Up’ in Gloucestershire. Levelling Up has specific missions around decreasing gaps in life 
expectancy and wellbeing. To facilitate this, a Levelling Up Together grant scheme has been developed 

which will be focussed on the twelve most deprived LSOAs (equating to ten Wards) in the county.   
 

(ii) Service engagement with communities 

Although systems have been working to integrate their structures and processes, with focus on care 
closer to home, there are persistent barriers between systems and more disadvantaged people in their 
communities. People working in our system have said that ‘action on’ health inequalities is an important 
part of their role, but many have asked for better information, support, tools, models and learning 

mechanisms to assist them in this. Examples of action to date include the development of a health 
inequalities digital hub providing information, practical support and signposting for those wanting to 
consider their work area through a health inequalities lens. 

 

(iii) Civic service Integration  
Civic authorities, such as local councils and the NHS, work closely with a range of service providers. 
Examples of action to date include working with public sector organisations in Gloucestershire to prioritise 

health inequalities in their strategies and organisational ambitions; challenging them to think differently about their role in ‘action on’ health inequalities and 
reviewing and developing Gloucestershire County Council’s Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) process from a health inequalities perspective. 

 

8.2.2 Programme level change: Core20PLUS5 key clinical areas 
The Core20PLUS5 framework has been developed nationally to 

support Integrated Care Boards to drive targeted action in health 

inequalities improvement. This invites a focus towards:  

• Core20: anyone living in Gloucestershire who falls within the 

20% most deprived communities nationally  

• PLUS: this can be any Equalities Act or inclusion group that 

needs more focussed action.   

• 5: five key clinical programme areas to deliver for the Core20 

population. Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) are exploring 

the beliefs and perceptions that influence people’s interaction 

with services and, working with integrated locality partnerships, 

are seeking to target improvements to access, experience and 

outcomes through their transformation programmes. 

Figure 6: Components of the population 

intervention triangle 

 

P
age 30



19 
 

8.2.3 Organisational level change: Anchor organisations 
The role of anchor organisations in our system presents an ideal opportunity to promote 

equity and consider how to reduce health inequalities. The term ‘anchors’ commonly 

refers to public sector organisations such as local authorities, hospitals and universities 

which are unlikely to relocate and have a significant stake in their local area. They have 

sizeable assets that can be used to support their local community’s health and 

wellbeing and address health inequalities (see Gloucestershire’s Director of Public 

Health annual report 2021). These characteristics means they are well placed to 

positively influence the social, economic and environmental determinants of health and 

wellbeing within their local communities.  

Anchor organisations already influence the wider determinants of health and wellbeing, 

but they can have a more positive impact by choosing to invest in and work with others 

locally and responsibly. For example, choosing to direct more procurement spend 

locally enables organisations to employ more people and pay higher wages. These 

employees are more likely to spend locally, thus stimulating the county’s economy 

further.  

This approach capitalises on the substantial economic leverage that anchor 

organisations have as employers, purchasers of goods and services, land and asset 

owners and community leaders. Gloucestershire has been developing the anchor 

organisations approach locally through five areas of focus and developing a quality 

assurance matrix. One of these five areas of focus is environmental sustainability which 

demonstrates the role of anchor organisations in addressing their environmental 

impact and helping to response to the climate crisis.  

 

Figure 7 Opportunities for anchor organisations 

 

Box 11: The Employment and Skills Hub 
The Employment and Skills Hub provides a “front door” to employment and skills support for all residents of Gloucestershire.  The ‘Hub’ offers information, guidance, support, 

and advice to all, with 1:1 support for people who face additional barriers to entering the labour market or retaining their job.  The Hub works across all sectors and with a 

network of partners to provide holistic support to residents and promotes inclusive employment practices to all employers encouraging them to build a workforce that is 

diverse and representative of the County’s population. 

Within the Hub specialist services provide additional support to those who have an increased risk of long-term unemployment or economic inactivity, including young people 

who are/have been in care, who are not in education employment or training (NEET) or who have health conditions and disabilit ies, including those with mental health issues. 

With a focus on areas of highest deprivation the Hub reaches every part of Gloucestershire to ensure equality of opportunity for those who have, or could, experience health 

and social inequality. 

P
age 31

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111500/dph-report-2021-sources-of-strength.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111500/dph-report-2021-sources-of-strength.pdf


8.3 Our ambitions 
The One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership (GHWP) and can play a key role in 

developing action across boundaries and will be pivotal in challenging thinking and traditional 

ways of working. It will:  

• Ensure we have the drive to work differently; system leadership needs to be understanding 

of and engaged with the health inequalities agenda and be aware of its relevance to the 

wellbeing principle, inclusion, and other high priority issues. 

• Develop robust partnerships supported by good governance. This will be essential for 

harnessing dimensions of system change, agreeing outcomes and integrating the health 

inequalities agenda with promoting independence and other priority activity – as a golden 

thread. 

• Recognise that delivering services to achieve population level change and reduce health 

inequalities requires an understanding of how communities and individuals are supported to 

use services, alongside addressing variation in quality and outcomes of the services 

themselves. 

• Develop the workforce capacity, motivation and skills to understand and address health 

equity and health inequalities.  

• Use this opportunity to align our approach to health equity to the Marmot principles on the 

social determinants of health. 

We will link foundational cross-cutting activities to existing structures (for example our Integrated 

Locality Partnerships and Clinical Programme Groups) as well as ensuring any health and care strategies have health inequalit ies as a golden thread running 

through them.  

In 12 months, we will see: 

• An anchor organisations approach: Public sector anchor organisations use the 

anchors progressive framework to self-assess where they are against each 

dimension and take actions to capitalise on their power and role as an inclusive 

anchor. 

• Routine use of equity research, data, and intelligence to inform service design, 

delivery, and improvements.  

• Focus on commissioning for social value and health equity principles, through 

robust Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) and implementation of a coproduced 

social value policy.  

In 5 years, we will see: 

• Workforce: All staff working in our system will understand health inequalities – 

what they are, why they matter and what action they could take within their roles.  

• Action across our partnership: Every service across our system understands how 

it can create equity and is structured to support this. 

• Evidence of action and progress on ensuring we do more for the most 

disadvantaged groups in our population, including evidence of reduced health 

inequalities across our system.   

 

 
. 

Box 12: Key ways we will achieve our health equity ambitions 

• Engagement: Developing engagement infrastructures to 
facilitate considered, two-way conversations with 
communities and cohorts (population groups). 

• Data and Intelligence: Using data and intelligence to build 
a considered picture of health inequalities in 

Gloucestershire utilising a diverse set of methods and 
sources.  

• Communication and Information: Developing a variety of 
mechanisms to increase in knowledge and awareness of 
health inequalities across the system. 

• Embedding Policies and Processes: Creating the 
conditions to enable systematic consideration of health 

inequalities in business-as-usual activities. 

• Workforce Capacity, Skills and Capabilities: Developing 
the skills, understanding and capabilities of organisations 

and their workforce in relation to health inequalities. 

P
age 32

https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on


21 
 

 

9.1 The case for change 
 The health and care workforce across our system is key to transforming what we do. However, workforce sustainability across our system partners is one of 

the biggest challenges we will face over the next 5-10 years to ensure we can continue to deliver effective services and care and improve the overall health 

and wellbeing for our population.  

9.2 How we are already creating change? 
Rather than tackle the workforce challenge as individual organisations, it is essential 

that we work together as system partners to find solutions that deliver a sustainable 

workforce for Gloucestershire. Working with our partners has identified a need to:   

• prioritise the health and wellbeing of staff and develop a consistent approach to 

creating a compassionate culture across Gloucestershire.  

• maximise opportunities for flexible working, for example through common policies, 

and harmonising Terms and Conditions, supporting staff to move across our 

system. 

• widen access to health and care roles, creating career pathways for young people. 

• change the perception of care roles. 

• continue to work collaboratively on creative solutions that make the best use of all 

resources across our system  

• strengthen the voluntary and community workforce across the country.  

DATA AND INTELLIGENCE:  

Over 28,000 people work in health and social care 

in Gloucestershire, but there are vacancy 
rates of 7-12% and even greater in some staff 

groups e.g., registered nursing 14%. 

Over 11,000 people are employed by the 

Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise 

Sector (VCSE) and there are 14,000 
volunteers 

Each year Gloucestershire experiences a net 

loss of 400 people aged 18-30 who 

leave our county 

9% of households in Gloucestershire are “Not in 

Work” with over 17,000 individuals currently 

unemployed.  

The average age of our workforce is 43 years. 21% of 
NHS staff and 25.4% of social care staff 

are aged over 55. 

Over 52% of VCSE organisations 

struggle to recruit trustees 

Pillar 2: Transforming what we do.                 Create One Workforce for One Gloucestershire 

Box 13: The principles of our workforce approach  

✓ A sustained focus on retention of staff linked to a strong health and 

wellbeing offer  

✓ Ensuring our workforce represents the population of Gloucestershire 

✓ Growing our routes into local careers in caring working with Schools and 

Colleges 

✓ Targeting education and training opportunities at roles that can work 

across health and care, community, and acute and physical and mental 

health  

✓ Develop shared solutions to shared problems e.g., further system wide 

recruitment events, exploring potential for working at scale  

✓ Support our voluntary and community sector through continuing to extend 

and share development opportunities, rotational roles and highlighting the 

profile of volunteering  

✓ A shared focus on culture and compassionate leadership 

P
age 33



  

9.3 Our ambitions 
Across our partnership colleagues engaged in supporting the workforce have agreed our approach should be to pool resources, reduce duplication and identify 

priority areas for collaboration with all partners having an equal voice. We will also identify best practice and learn from other areas who have adopted innovative 

approaches to addressing workforce challenges.   

• We will further develop a shared People Plan for Gloucestershire that sets out our shared vision and priorities for the next 5 years. 

• We will develop a supportive culture across our system that prioritises wellbeing, open communication and creates opportunities for leadership to flourish at 

all levels.  

• We will continue to identify opportunities for joint working, including shared recruitment events and campaigns, leadership development and develop 

consistent approaches to equality, diversity and inclusion.  

• We will maximise education and training opportunities for our workforce, taking the opportunity to share skills and knowledge across partners to develop a 

system understanding and equip the health, care voluntary and community workforce with the right skills for both current and future roles.  

• We will strengthen our approach to apprenticeships and widening participation in health and care roles  

• We will maximise wider partnerships to make the best use of all resources e.g. mobilising the Arts Health & Wellbeing Community Resource and Centre of 

Excellence (part of the new City Centre Campus and a joint initiative between One Gloucestershire and the University of Gloucestershire). 

• We will use our substantial economic leverage as anchor organisations to develop employment opportunities for those furthest from the labour market. 

In 12 months, we will see:  

• A reduction in vacancies and turnover rates across all system partners.  

• Further expansion of apprenticeships roles, internships, volunteering and other 

alternative routes to employment.   

• A system wide Workforce Wellbeing Strategy and support offer for the 
workforce across Gloucestershire.  

• Cross-sector career development opportunities including the opportunity for 
more employed staff to sit on VCSE sector boards.  

In 5 years, we will see:  

• Vacancy rates across all partners in our system reduced by 50%.  

• More individuals with protected characteristics, including Black Asian and 

Minority Ethnic groups are in senior leadership positions across partners.  

• A system wide learning and development platform across Gloucestershire 
accessible by all partners organisations.  

• Greater employment mobility across public, voluntary and community sectors 
but with strong retention across the County.  

Box 15: Health are care recruitment event 

More than 300 people attended a ‘one stop shop’ recruitment event at Cheltenham 

Racecourse with a large number fast-tracked into job opportunities within health and 

social care in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire NHS organisations, Gloucestershire 

County Council and the independent care sector joined forces to run the event which 

aimed to fill many vacancies across the health and care sector locally. 

A total of 314 people were welcomed through the doors, 298 job seekers were 

interviewed and 270 of those were offered roles with 41% being new to care. The 

range of posts on offer included mental health, community services, adult social 

care, GP practice and hospital support roles. 

Box 14: Gloucestershire GEM project 

The Gloucestershire GEM Project is a unique public, voluntary and private sector 

partnership. GEM has supported those who are furthest from the labour market to 

move closer or into education, employment, and developing skills. Reaching into 

communities, GEM has supported over 2,000 participants, reduced isolation and 

developed an extensive and diverse partnership that builds capacity and cohesion.   

GEM has provided us with an evidence base upon which we can build future 

employment and skills programmes for the County’s unemployed and 

economically inactive residents, addressing socio-economic factors experienced 

by some of the county’s vulnerable or excluded individuals. 

P
age 34



23 
 

 
10.1 The case for change 
Considering the whole person journey for specific health conditions, or specific groups in our population enables a system wide view to improving the quality of 

care, and outcomes from prevention through to diagnosis and treatment. Premature mortality is a good high-level indicator of the overall health of a population. 

The under 75-year-old rate of mortality from all causes in Gloucestershire is 300 people per 100,000*, significantly better than England. However, there are 

significant differences in the premature death rates in different parts of the county and different population groups, reflecting a range of underlying differences 

between these populations.   

Figure 8 shows ’scarf charts’ which indicate, for each broad cause of death, the 
percentage contribution that it makes to the overall life expectancy gap between 
least and most deprived areas of Gloucestershire. For example, circulatory diseases 

are responsible for 30.2% of the 7.4 year gap in life expectancy between males 
living in our most and least deprived communities. Furthermore, COVID-19 is 
evident as a contributor during this period.  

 

In Gloucestershire 14.6% of people aged 16+ are estimated to have a common 

mental health disorder and between 2018-20, 84.3 per 100,000 people in 

Gloucestershire suffered premature mortality due to severe mental illness. Whilst 

this is significantly better when compared to England as a whole4 it masks 

differences across the county. Furthermore, individuals living in Gloucestershire 

who fall within the 20% most deprived communities nationally are more likely to be 

frail than the rest of the population. In May 2022, 13.4% of the 20% most deprived 

population in our county were considered frail versus 12.4% of the whole population 

using a frailty index to define mild, moderate and severe frailty5. 

 

To improve the quality of care and outcomes, and reduce inequalities between 
different groups, our system is taking concerted action in both prevention and 
treatment across the whole person journey for specific health conditions, or specific 

groups in our population.  

 

  

 
4 JSNA Gloucestershire 2022 
5 Development and validation of an electronic frailty index using routine primary care electronic health record data, Age and Ageing, Volume 45, Issue 3, May 2016 

Pillar 2: Transforming what we do. Improve quality and outcomes across the whole person journey 

Fig. 8:  Breakdown of the life expectancy gap between the most and least deprived 

quintiles of Gloucestershire by cause of death, 2020 to 2021 (Provisional) 

 

*Note: Age-standardised rates of mortality in persons less than 75 years per 100,000 

population. 3-year range average (2017-19). 

 

P
age 35

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2118477/jsna_infographic_2022_mental-wellbeing_final.pdf


10.2 How are we already creating change? 

10.2.1 Transformation programmes 

Our transformation programme areas include defined clinical areas (such as Respiratory), defined patient groups (such as Children and Young People) and 

themes (such as Aging Well) in Gloucestershire.  

 

A number of these programmes use the clinical programme approach methodology to work 

collaboratively to improve the quality of care, outcomes for citizens, and value for money. It 

also provides the opportunity to improve health equity across the whole patient journey. It 

involves using population health data and insights to inform the systematic redesign of the 

way care is delivered, by reorganising and integrating systems, to deliver the right care, in the 

right place, at the right time. It relies on partnership working across a range of sectors to co-

produce pathways of care through primary and secondary prevention, diagnosis, treatment, 

and self-management, as well as transition, maintaining independence through adulthood and 

ageing well. It includes considering alternatives to traditional care, e.g., creative health and 

psychological support, to provide a holistic approach. This ensures a focus on evidence-based 

practice, local data and intelligence, and outcomes that are locally agreed and reflect a 

person-centred, multi-disciplinary, multiagency approach. 

 

Our transformation programmes also seek to improve the quality of care and outcomes for a 

person’s journey across the life course; to enable people to maintain good functional ability 

through prevention and early identification and intervention. This perspective encourages us 

to consider critical stages, transitions, and settings where large differences can be made in 

improving health and wellbeing. 

Box 16: Start well 

As a system we place high importance on health and care services supporting 
all children and young people in Gloucestershire to make a strong start. 
Gloucestershire’s Local Maternity and Neonatal System (LMNS) was established 
as a national requirement in response to the National Maternity Review ‘Better 
Births’ report (2016). The LMNS operates in a similar way to the CPGs by 
bringing together provider, commissioner, VCSE and service user stakeholders 
to improve quality and outcomes and reduce inequalities.  Its vision is to improve 
maternity services to ensure that women and babies receive excellent care that 
is person-centred and safe, delivered by staff who provide woman-centred care, 
in cultures which promote innovation and continuous learning across 
organisational and professional boundaries. To ensure equity for mothers and 
babies in Gloucestershire, we must respond to each woman’s particular health 
and social situation and ensure that increased support is given to those with the 
poorest outcomes.   

Box 17: Age well 

The ageing well, frailty and dementia programmes all use the transformation 
approach to improve the quality of life for older people and those living with these 
conditions. Key programmes of work include:   
 

 

P
age 36



25 
 

10.2.2 Linking transformation programmes with communities and localities 

We recognise that service access, delivery and support needs vary for different populations and areas within the county. Transformation programmes working 

together with localities and neighbourhoods will be key to understanding the causes of this unwarranted variation. Driving change from a place level using the 

best evidence and making appropriate changes to meet the needs at local level will be important for our success in improving outcomes for all.  

 

Box 18: Examples of working between transformation programmes, communities and localities 

In St Paul’s PCN a Population Health Management 

(PHM) approach (see section 13.2.1) was used to identify 

patients in the risk category for COPD without a 

diagnosis. They were invited to a Lung Health Clinic.  

 

The Respiratory Clinical Programme Group has 

supported this approach and has identified other ways to 

support patients, e.g., through the Lung Health Clinic such 

as education on the benefits of referral to pulmonary 

rehabilitation, provision of spirometers and training. 

Evaluation has identified that 59% of those who attended 

a clinic had an abnormal spirometry result, contributing to 

a high yield of new diagnoses of COPD.  

The Mental Health Clinical Programme Group has 

actively engaged people with lived experience (including 

carers) in the planning and development of Mental Health 

services. An Expert by Experience Advisory Group has 

been established,  

 

The Group are active participants in shaping and 

transforming local mental health services, with 

representatives attending the wider Clinical Programme 

Group meetings to support decision making. 

 

Our strong partnerships with Creative Health in 

Gloucestershire provide options for people with 

long term pain, respiratory conditions, and 

dementia to access art and singing groups with 

some excellent results and feedback. 

 

Further evaluation and exploration on these 

alternatives to traditional care will continue, 

including how to make this an accessible option 

for all our population. 

 

10.2.3 Involving experts by experience 

Involving experts by experience is fundamental to quality improvement. An example of this in Gloucestershire is the LeDeR programme. This is a service 

improvement programme which aims to improve care for people with a learning disability and people with autism; including working to reduce health inequalities 

and preventing early deaths. 

Gloucestershire is one of the first counties to include experts by experience on their LeDeR quality assurance panel (where each review is considered by a wide 

range of stakeholders). The experts by experience are also involved in steering the programme and ‘action into learning’ groups, placing the voice of people 

with learning disabilities and people with autism at the heart of the programme. Having an expert by experience at every level brings constructive challenge and 

brings to life the barriers experienced by people with a learning disability or autism. Listening to the experts by experience has informed practical and useful 

improvements in care and communication.  

10.2.4  Achieving health equity 

Looking across the whole person journey or pathway provides the opportunity to understand where health equity can be improved. The Intervention Decay 

Model (IDM) is a way to systematically use data to assess the effectiveness of a patient pathway for different groups of the population. Intervention decay occurs 

where at each ‘stage’ of an intervention or pathway cases are either ‘lost’ or do not receive optimal care . This means that there is a reduction in overall population 

level benefit from the intervention. The IDM tool helps to identify where these losses are happening and where inequalities exist along a pathway i.e., the points 

where different population groups are more likely to be ‘lost’ or receive sub-optimal care.  The tool does not help to explain why these losses or disparities occur 

but highlights practical intervention points where NHS services and wider partners can work together at local level to understand the underlying reasons and 

P
age 37



agree actions to improve overall outcomes and reduce disparities. This model is being used by the Respiratory Clinical Programme Group with an ambition to 

broaden its use in the future. 

10.3 Our ambition  
We have identified the following key success factors for improving quality and outcomes across the whole person journey:  

• Harnessing and utilising a partnership approach. 

• Identifying those most at risk of long-term conditions, or deterioration, by utilising population health data and supporting tools, such as the intervention 

decay model.  

• Delivering activities focussed on prevention and promoting independence.  

• High-quality strengths based person-centred care, including additional offers for people outside of the “usual” care offer. 

• A localised approach to service delivery – through co-production and further developing the relationships between transformation programmes and 

Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILPs).  

 

There is an opportunity to build on the current approach to improve health equity by: 

• Routinely and robustly considering health inequalities as part of service development/change through the meaningful application of the organisational 

Equality Impact Assessment process. 

• Embedding meaningful engagement with communities throughout all service/pathway improvement work – from design to delivery. 

• Making better use of data, including Population Health Management (PHM) approaches, and more effective use of qualitative data, to help ask different 

questions around service accessibility, experience, outcomes, and equity. 

• Systematically applying the Intervention Decay Model to services and pathways to understand and act on inequalities in access, experience & outcomes.  

 

Whilst there are examples across our programmes of where this is already working well, we will more consistently embed these success factors throughout our 

programmes, taking every opportunity to share learning with one another, allowing our approach to continue to develop and grow. 

In 12 months, we will see:  

• Programmes robustly using population health data, as well as qualitative 

insights and information, to inform project development and planning.  

• All programmes identifying their contribution to the CORE 20 PLUS 5 agenda 

and reporting on progress and impact.  

• All programmes committed to the concept of preventing, reducing, or delaying 

need for care and support, to reduce demand on urgent care services and 

improve elective recovery.  

 

In 5 years, we will see:  

• All programmes achieving health equity (see section 5.3) in outcomes and 

access for services in Gloucestershire.  

• Our resources being used effectively and efficiently across the system to deliver 

high value care, which is demonstrated in outcomes. 

• Countywide and local services that are fit for purpose, responsive to people’s 

needs, build on the strengths and assets of individuals and communities, and 

meet our constitutional standards.  

 

 

 

P
age 38



27 
 

11.1 The case for change 
Our first Integrated Care Strategy recognises that, as well as setting our strategic direction, we also need to respond immediately to the pressing challenges 

facing our system. These challenges include: 

• Ongoing pressures within our urgent and emergency care system. 

• Completing the post-pandemic recovery phase. 

• Significant workforce pressures. 

• Growing financial challenges across the system, and for the individuals we serve. 

In order to respond to today’s challenges, we have explored a wide range of quantitative and qualitative data and intelligence to help further define these:  

• The challenges within urgent and emergency care services continue to be significant; in particular patients are waiting too long to be seen at our 

emergency departments (including delays to handover patients from ambulances); patients are staying in hospital longer than they need to because we 

are too reliant upon bed-based discharge pathways; and we need to increase capacity within out of hospital/home-based support services. 

• We have made good progress in reducing the longest waits for hospital-based services but need to continue to be concerned about the size of the overall 

waiting list built up during the pandemic (when resources were redeployed to the pandemic response).  

• Demand for mental health services increased significantly during the two years of the 

pandemic, meaning that there are increasingly long waits across a range of community and 

hospital-based mental health services, particularly for children and young people. 

• Existing health inequalities mean that not everyone in Gloucestershire has the same 

experience of health and care services, which may impact people’s quality and length of life. 

Some health inequalities have increased because of the pandemic. 

• Workforce data tells us that there are significant recruitment and retention challenges across 

many parts of the health and care system as we compete for staff with other parts of the 

country and with other sectors. We are seeing particular workforce pressures within the home-

based and care home sectors, nursing, and both primary care and hospital-based medical 

staff. 

• Financial forecasts tell us that we need to put system and organisational plans in place to 

deliver productivity and efficiency savings. We will also work together to identify and reduce 

spending which isn’t adding value for our population.  

 

Pillar 3: Improving health and care services today 

Box 19: Building on what we have in place 
 

We have a number of plans already in place, these include 

but are not limited to: 

• ICS Operating plan 2022-23 

• GCC Adult Social Care transformation programme  

• Gloucestershire Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

• GHFT Strategic Plan 

• GHC Strategy 

• Gloucestershire ICS Primary Care Strategy 

• Fit for the Future - Phase 1 

• Gloucestershire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2015-20 

• Living Safely with COVID-19 Plan  

• Rough Sleeper Action Plan 

• Crisis Care Concordat 

• Urgent and Emergency Care Winter sustainability plan 

P
age 39



11.2 How we are already creating change? 
We continue to place emphasis upon strong and meaningful partnerships to respond to the 

immediate challenges we face, particularly with the voluntary and independent sectors, and 

locality based partnerships. Working with our partners we have identified the following specific 

areas of focus: 

• Primary care 

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Improving access to support at home/social care, hospital care and community-based 

services 

• Mental health support. 

Our engagement activities have told us that all partners recognise the scale of the challenge to 

improve health and care services today, including the ongoing impacts of the pandemic, the 

cost of living situation and individual and organisational worsening financial contexts, and that 

there is a strong desire to work together to leverage and share existing delivery mechanisms. 

 

11.3 Our ambitions 
As an integrated system our approach to improve health and care services today will include: 

• Working with partners to address our health and care challenges, recognising the many interdependencies across our system.  

• A commitment to making decisions together about how we best prioritise the system’s resources. 

• An emphasis upon involving all our partners and engaging with staff and the public on the areas where changes will be required. 

• A commitment to sharing data and intelligence across the system and to developing a shared understanding of what  this is telling us. 

• A focus on where health inequalities are causing unfair variation in service access, experience and outcomes. 
 

In 12 months, we will see: 

• Continuation of increased access in primary care and an effective response to the workforce challenges.  Ensure analysis underway to understand where people may 
not be accessing some services (with primary care as the gateway) in an equitable manner and how this may be addressed. 

• Timely urgent & emergency care, resourcing of urgent care services and agreeing and implementing a system wide programme of re-design (with a particular focus 
on reducing length of stay within hospital-based services and reducing discharge delays).  

• Improving access to support at home/social care, hospital care and community-based services, with targeted investment in increasing capacity within home-based 

services, stimulating the home based and care home sectors, embedding additional community based rapid response services and increasing capacity to reduce waits 
for hospital treatment (including through additional diagnostic capacity). 

• Developing and implementing new approaches to promote mental health, and targeted investment in reducing waits for community and hospital based mental health 
services. 

• We will have reviewed system productivity and taken steps to improve and recover productivity in key areas to pre-pandemic levels. We will have also begun to 
implement the outcomes of our review of urgent and emergency care and started to see an improvement in services and our financial position as a consequence. 

Box 20: Taking a holistic approach to treating homeless people 
attending emergency departments 

 
Between 400 and 600 homeless people attend Emergency 
Departments (ED) at Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust every year. A project developed by frontline staff sought to 
provide more holistic support. The team identified frequent users 
of ED and working together with the Gloucestershire Strategic 
Housing Partnership and VCSE organisations, provided support 
to get them back on track after discharge. This approach has 
improved outcomes for homeless individuals and has significantly 
reduced their re-attendance at ED.   

P
age 40



29 
 

In order to deliver our ambitions within the three pillars of this Integrated Care Strategy we have identified fundamental changes to our approach to health, care 

and wellbeing that must be integrated into everything we do. These conditions for change will enable our system to move towards innovative ways of working 

to tackle complex challenges and grab every opportunity.  

12.1 The case for change 
Enabling a meaningful shift to prevention that can reduce demand over the long-term will require a 

shift to a new community focused paradigm. People who have good social support networks, are 

involved and included in their communities and are valued for their contribution, experience better 

health. Positive health outcomes and equity will not be achieved by a 'doing to' culture. Meaningful 

change will only occur when people and communities have the opportunities and facility to control and 

manage their own futures. We need to move away from a traditional health and care service delivery 

model to holistic, empowering approaches that consider not only the individual but also the context in 

which they live. This means taking a more strengths-based approach and requires a different way of 

thinking, and different conversations.  

 

We already have the foundations in place for this approach. The voluntary and community sector have a long history of working in this way, in addition to 

district councils such as Gloucester City. We recognise single project or programme examples which take strengths-based approaches either with individuals 

or communities, but we often fail to view our system-wide approach to adopting this way of working. We want to develop a shared understanding of working in 

a strengths-based way, where individuals, families, communities and organisations talk about health and care in a positive way which values health but 

recognises that it takes effort to retain and improve it. 

 

12.2 How are we already enabling change? 
To enable this shift to a new community paradigm, we are changing the way we work. This is not about new projects or programmes but a shift in values and 

culture. This means collaborating in equal partnership alongside communities and individuals to build on our collective strengths so that we can improve the 

local health outcomes that matter most to them or improve the factors that affect health together. 

 

12.2.1 Communities 

Communities themselves have the best understanding of their own circumstances and what they need to thrive. Given the role of active communities in 

prevention and health equity, we must work alongside communities as equal partners. Involving communities directly in the decisions, design and delivery of 

health, care and wider wellbeing support is fundamental. Whilst it is thus difficult to generalise about what that involvement might look like, Gloucestershire has 

Strengthened communities and person-centred approaches 

Box 21: Taking a strengths-based approach 

All of us have strengths. These include the skills, 

experiences, networks and local facilities we all 

possess or can access. 

A strengths-based approach considers the whole 

person or community. It focuses on what is working 

well, what the person or community does best, and 

what resources people have available to help them 

stay fit, well and independent.  

Creating the conditions for change 

P
age 41



some excellent examples of where this is working well (see box 22). These approaches of co-production and community building are not just ‘nice to have’ 

things - they are crucial and often overlooked factors that impact on health equity, outcomes, community wellbeing and the efficiency, quality and sustainability 

of health and care system.  

12.2.2 Collaboration and co-production 
The One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership (GHWP) will further our collaborative working across the county. This collaboration needs to be 

across sectors and involve communities as equal partners. It involves building trust, mutual respect, understanding each other’s roles, contexts and contributions. 

Co-production is a way of working to achieve a shared outcome. We recognise the challenges to this in terms of difference in language, different priorities and 

the resource this requires, however the benefits are evident.  

 
12.2.3 Individuals - Person-centred health and care 
There are already numerous examples in Gloucestershire of working in a person-centred way, 

including the Three Conversations (Making the Difference) Model in adult social care, our local work 
on Personalised Care, Restorative Practice and Better Conversations. For example, Better 
Conversations aims to improve capability in coaching skills for health and wellbeing across the 
system. It moves beyond the delivery of discrete training offers to developing a coherent and 

sustainable approach to building coaching skills and techniques across the ICS workforce. This is 
underpinned by developing a shared culture and values which encourages, enables and supports 
the use of these skills. There are also significant programmes and projects locally taking a 

community centred approach including: 

• The Know Your Patch Networks - these were established for those working with individuals 

and groups to help people stay independent for longer and lead full and happier lives. They 

help to connect and strengthen relationships between statutory, health, social care, and 

voluntary/ community sector practitioners. 

• Small grants programmes for non-profit making organisations help to address gaps, or 

provide more activities, that enable communities to flourish and support people to stay living 

independently for longer. It recognises the vital role that communities play in providing place-

based activities to meet local needs.   

Box 23: Creative health 

In early 2020 Gloucestershire Creative Health Consortium 

became formalised, comprising of the five main Arts on 

Prescription providers across the county, Artlift, Art Shape, 

Cinderford Artspace, Mindsong and The Music Works. 

Between them the partners work with people of all ages 

covering a wide range of health conditions such as dementia, 

chronic lung disease, diabetes and mental health conditions. 

They offer a variety of arts-based programmes such as circus 

and carnival skills, music and singing, visual arts and 

photography. The partners and the NHS Social Prescribing 

and Creative Health Team have worked collaboratively and 

in coproduction for many years, with clinicians and people 

with lived experience.  There is a collective ethos of being 

person-led, meeting unmet need and spending time on 

reflection and development. Gloucestershire Creative Health 

Consortium (in partnership with Ideas Alliance and The Lived 

Experience Network) was named the winner of The Culture, 

Health & Wellbeing Alliance’s Collective Power award 2022. 

Box 22: Gloucester Community Building Collective – building community capacity 

In a crisis, it is good to know you have neighbours or others in your community to whom you can turn. However, the connections that we have in our communities can be 

important at any time. We can all find ourselves alone, feeling disconnected from where we live or the people around us. ‘The Collective’ uses a strengths-based approach 

to addressing some of the social issues that arise when people or communities lack connection. It means starting with people and what can be done by them, speaking to 

them, listening, and discovering what they enjoy doing, or would like to do, and the things they care about.  There is no agenda - just whatever it is that matters to them and 

is fun. It involves encouraging people to think about what they are good at and what they can do for themselves or for others, not telling them what they are doing wrong or 

need to improve. The Collective work alongside people to realise their plans – helping them access relevant support and resources to set up that activity, get fit, cook 

together, improve their park, go on holiday with someone for the first time, and work better with their local council or other services to support them. It should be a win-win 

– if we all do what we can to create hope and agency in individuals and communities, including supporting and investing in their ideas and plans, we are more likely to see 

sustainable connected communities where anyone can thrive. 

P
age 42



31 
 

We have a great opportunity to shift power to people, places, and communities to enhance their strengths, to help prevent illness, and improve health. We will 

continue to foster a shift towards a more personalised approach to health and care, enabling people to have the same choice and control over their health and 

care as they have come to expect in every other part of their life.  Maximising people’s independence, health, and wellbeing through tailored suppor t so that 

‘What Matters to Me’ is central and builds relationships based on equal partnership and shared understanding and ownership. This key principle extends across 

all levels of the work we do, from system level interactions right down to individual interactions on a day-to-day basis. 

Our personalised care programme will continue to:  

• Adopt a universally recognised approach to personalised care and support planning, through the ‘What Matters to Me’ programme.  

• Work with VCSE organisations and partners to better support the needs of carers, people living with learning disabilities, high intensity users, and our 

diverse communities, accessing placed-based activities and support, and self-management tools to support health and wellbeing outcomes. 

• Recruit social prescribers and care co-ordinators to support health and care professionals and promote valuing people as equal partners in shared 

decision-making conversations, using health coaching and motivational interviewing skills. 

• Expand the use of Personal Health Budgets/Integrated Budgets including One-Off Hospital discharges, reducing length of stay for people medically 

optimised to return home. 

 

Box 24: Personalised care 
Personalised care and support planning starts with a conversation between 
a person and their health and care professional to help define their health 
and wellbeing needs and wishes.  The individual will explore how to manage 
their conditions, supported through local socially prescribed community 
based-activities, self-management tools and personal health budgets.  This 
forms a personalised care and support plan which holds information on what 
is usual for a person ‘all about me’ and how they live at home with their health 
condition/unique wellness ‘me at my best’. Anticipatory and advance care 
planning also helps define an individual’s priorities and preferences about 
living with a long-term condition, and what future care requirements they 
have towards the end of life 
 

Plans are owned by an individual and held in their ‘What Matters to Me’ folder, 
making it easy for them to share with other health and care professionals who 
may not have access to all their information during a routine health check 
and/or in a health emergency. These plans can be updated by the individual, 
at any time, as their needs and preferences change.  
  

 

Figure 10 

P
age 43



12.2.4 Programmes - Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC-I) 

Moving forward as partners we need to find opportunities to participate in initiatives that shape the wider community within which we operate and ensure we are 

advocates for health creation. The Enabling Active Communities and Individuals (EAC-I) portfolio and supporting programmes have been created to develop 

and deliver Gloucestershire’s approach to doing just that. The overarching goal is to improve health and wellbeing through mobilising assets within communities, 

promoting equity and increasing peoples control over their health and lives. It 

aims to:   

• create new ways of engaging with communities, new ways of working with 

partners across the system and new approaches to developing and 

delivering services  

• develop a set of expected behaviours and shared values which will 

underpin the work that we do  

• build a shared leadership model across the system in which ownership of 

solutions is truly equal  

• support and enable individuals to develop capability and confidence in 

controlling their own health and wellbeing  

• support individuals to make healthy choices and lead healthy lives 

• support the health and social care workforce to ensure that they have the 

skills and competences to become co-producers in health and wellbeing 

• ensure that individuals can access appropriate services and support 

networks. 

 

12.2.5 Organisations - Our Memorandum of Understanding (MoU)  

We have a One Gloucestershire Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 

between the Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector in 

Gloucestershire and the public sector partner organisations in our Integrated 

Care System. We know we need to work together, in equal partnership, between 

the ICS public sector and the VCSE sector. We have a positive history of 

partnership working to build on, but the establishment of a new Integrated Care 

Board and One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership opens 

opportunities for more dynamic relationships between the sectors. The VCSE 

sector brings specialist expertise and fresh perspectives to public service 

delivery and is particularly well placed to support people with complex and 

multiple needs. It has a long track record in promoting engagement and finding creative ways to improve outcomes for groups with the poorest health. Our MoU 

is a commitment to new ways of working between the sectors. It establishes the framework for the culture within which we will work, by centring on our shared 

vision and values and putting people in our communities at the heart of everything we do. It builds on our partnership working and dynamic relationships, 

committing resources, energy and passion to integrated working to achieve our collective aims and objectives as equal partners. This is an adaptable and 

flexible framework that nurtures integration through living our values and promotes a culture that responds to learning. 

Box 25: Social prescribing 

Social Prescribing is a means of referring people to a range of local, non-clinical 

services, to support individuals to take greater control of their own health and 

address people’s needs in a holistic way. Social Prescribing has a strong 

foundation in Gloucestershire, with effective relationships across our partnerships. 

Our Community Wellbeing Service of Social Prescribers is co-commissioned with 

Gloucestershire County Council and has been running since 2017.   

 

We are now further embedding Social Prescribing within our system, for example 

with Social Prescribers within the High Intensity User Team within hospital care. 

We are broadening the concept of social prescribing, with Social Prescribers 

acting as catalysts, enablers and facilitators in communities. We are also better 

aligning the Social Prescribing Link Worker model with our community based 

activity, helping us to further develop a reality where VCSE groups and 

communities are treated as equal partners with deep insights into effective 

responses and recognizing they need support and resources to do so effectively. 

This is supported by our Memorandum of Understanding between the 

Gloucestershire ICS and VCSE Sector.  

 

Social Prescribers working in our 

county have paved the way for 

national adoption, as well as shaping 

local commissioning and community-

based support. 

The qualitative and quantitative 

evidence has shown a clear impact 

on wellbeing, with an increasing 

number of health and social care 

colleagues making referrals.  

P
age 44

https://adfs.gloucestershire.gov.uk/adfs/ls/wia?wtrealm=https%3a%2f%2fstaffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk%2fumbraco&wctx=WsFedOwinState%3dtiwS4aSKQvTTXoIlFHdubWcwgmxYp21Ww1c5FNj_36qEjSGgu7k8kdzLqhQFPqF6J1wyepCZEFP2e3DR63LR6uNXhhdINY4SyZpmjNlqpFar5wgk7eg8yvlBChbSj63-BxWn7G5FJxrQIgMZ6EKW9qdSxJVjsZHqAam-XkOh-H9TpBcT-D71Dhkkuta5nGv2&wa=wsignin1.0


33 
 

12.2.6 Systems change - Healthier Communities Together (HCT)   

Our HCT movement in Gloucestershire is about building trust for fairer health. Funded by The King’s Fund 

and the National Lottery Community Foundation, the vision behind HCT is that everyone in Gloucestershire 

has the same opportunities to enjoy wellbeing and health. Realising this vision requires people, sectors and 

organisations to pull together and share resources in new ways and this takes time and trust.  

 

A stewardship group, made up of representatives from Health, Local Government, the Voluntary and 

Community Sector (VCS) and funders, is responsible for creating and modelling the leadership and 

management conditions for HCT to be successful. It reports to Gloucestershire’s Enabling Active 

Communities and Individuals (EAC-I) partnership that is ultimately responsible for the work. HCT delivers 

activities under four themes (fig 11). This shows that with a collaboratory as a test bed for innovation will 

create the space and conditions for curiosity, learning and experimentation in order to take a fresh approach 

to particular ‘wicked issues’ and drive change. 

 

12.3 Our ambitions 
We will improve health, care and wellbeing through building on mobilising assets within communities, promoting equity and increasing people’s control over 

their health and lives. Through this Integrated Care Strategy, we have the opportunity develop a shared understanding and commitment to strengths-based 

working which should guide future commissioning. We have a role in helping to create the conditions for individuals and communities to take more 

responsibility for their wellbeing and health.  

 

In 12 months, we will see:  

• Developing skills and qualities in the workforce necessary to ensure that co-
production, community development and person-centred care are embedded, 
promoted and championed. 

• A shift to more relational rather than transactional ways of working which is 
vital if we are to develop and maintain strong trusting relationships with one 
another and really put into practice the principles of our Memorandum of 
Understanding i.e. ensuring everyone feels valued, respected, and well-
represented.  

• Adoption of a co-production approach when working with our VCSE providers 

where the voice of people with lived experience is at the heart of the work, 
enabling them to share power, responsibility and become change makers. 

In 5 years, we will see:  

• A move towards becoming a ‘learning’ system rather than a ‘solutions based’ 
system 

• VCSE organisations and communities as a design partner with participation seen 
as essential, rather than simply a service delivery partner as they provide the 
expert knowledge of the local area and the need that exists. They offer the right 
tone and skills when working with people in ways that are empowering and 
inclusive. 

• Capturing impact that actively promotes the benefits of what matters to people 

with lived experience and what happened as the cumulative (intended and 
unintended) ‘ripple effect’ of our partnership. Recognising the value of qualitative 
“stories” data as being equal to or of even greater importance than the 
quantitative “statistical” data.  

Fig. 11: Healthier Communities Together 

 
 

P
age 45



13.1 The case for change  
In order to ensure that our vision, approach and services meet the needs of the people of Gloucestershire, including where inequalities in outcomes or access 

exist, we need to understand the strengths of our system, where there are gaps, and what needs further development to be able to best support people and 

organisations.  We want to ensure that our decisions follow the evidence, and that we are evaluating what we provide, whilst taking on board the wisdom and 

experience of our service users and partners. 

Only around 16% of an individual's overall health outcomes are influenced by the 

services they access. Housing, environment, education, and many other contributing 

factors affect health and wellbeing – this means that to understand our population’s 

health and the variation in our county, we need to work across organisational boundaries 

and gather information from multiple sources.   

There is a huge amount of information we can use to synthesise intelligence on local 

needs, monitor health and wellbeing, and identify assets and areas of opportunity to 

improve equity and outcomes for our population. These include local needs 

assessments (e.g. the Joint Strategic Need Assessment (JSNA)), local and national 

health and public health data, voluntary sector service data, feedback from service 

users, surveillance reports and audits, demographic information, and academic 

research. Building on this information we can mobilise action that delivers our ambitions 

for change. Collaborating from across health and care requires us to have a strong 

collective improvement capability, founded on applying well-evidenced tools and 

methodologies for quality improvement and service design.   

13.2 How we are already creating change?  
Using the information we have available to us helps us to understand whether the services and interventions delivered in county are achieving what they set out 

to achieve and are having a positive impact on users of services and our partnerships.   

Used collaboratively across our system, good quality quantitative and qualitative information can support strategic and operational decisions. This includes 

identifying how best to deliver preventative health and care interventions, also while improving services for those that need them, to make them most effective 

and resilient.   

By linking information about our population across all partners, we can carry out analysis to provide insight to those planning and delivering services. This 

enables us to design and implement evidence-based interventions appropriate to need.  Using our population data we can make more effective use of resources, 

update and deliver against system priorities and identify cohorts of people where an intervention, or change in the way we delive r services, can result in the best 

improvements in outcomes or experience. With the same approach we can also undertake evaluation and quality improvement of existing and future services 

and monitor pathways and outcomes in near real time. 

Evidence led practice, research and innovation   

Box 26: Gloucestershire’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

A JSNA explores the current and future health and care needs of local 

populations to inform and guide the planning and buying of health, wellbeing 

and social care services within an area and is a responsibility of 

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. This is not a static document 

but a data and intelligence resource which is iterative.  

Our local approach is to ensure that data and insight is available to those 

planning and commissioning services, but also that best evidence and 

practice is highlighted to help improve population health and wellbeing and 

reduce inequalities in access to services and in health and wellbeing 

outcomes. We aim to give visibility to the many strengths and assets within 

our communities alongside key demographic data and deeper topic dives. 

Health and Wellbeing - Inform (gloucestershire.gov.uk) 

P
age 46

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/health-and-wellbeing/


35 
 

This is a Population Health Management (PHM) approach which can help us create joined up and 

targeted services, improve the health and wellbeing of the population, enhance patient experience 

of care, reduce per capita cost of healthcare and improve productivity, increase the wellbeing and 

engagement of the workforce; and address health and care inequalities.   

13.2.1 Population health management 

Population health management is an intelligence driven approach which supports evidence-based 

decision making at all levels of an integrated care system. Its fundamental ingredients are linked 

data assets, system-wide analytical capabilities, widespread cultural adoption and leadership, a 

constant cyclical review of impact, system planning and evaluation. 

A PHM approach applies to individual interactions, enabling care professionals and patients alike to 

access and link key information and identify more readily need, capacity to benefit and pathway 

eligibility (primary use) as well as to whole population analysis where it helps identify key factors like 

health needs, epidemiological trends, health inequalities and support evidence based strategic 

priority setting (secondary use). 

13.2.2 Quality improvement  

Our One Gloucestershire improvement community brings together partners from across health and 

social care to strengthen our collective improvement capability and capacity. Quality Improvement 

(QI) gives us powerful tools and techniques that optimise our work to improve health and wellbeing 

outcomes, join-up care and create best value in our service design. We have a great track record of 

QI enabling numerous projects that have delivered real benefits to people in Gloucestershire. 
As partners we are now facing many significant challenges and in a more interconnected world 

solutions are increasingly interdependent. This gives us more complex problems to solve, but more 

benefits to gain from innovation and collaboration. Working in partnership we are developing fresh 

approaches to how we support collaborative transformation and equip teams across our system to 

lead change together.  

13.3 Our ambitions 
In order to support this approach, we need to ensure that we are collecting and linking good quality data and intelligence efficiently and consistently, and 

wherever possible supporting joined up records, avoiding the need for people to keep repeating their story to professionals. This will make our data assets more 

usable for the system, for clinicians and commissioners as well as improving people’s experience: Healthwatch consulted our communities in the preparation of 

the Long-Term Plan in 2020 and people reported wanting to have more joined up care records, and more individualised care, with appropriate resources in 

terms of language and accessibility. 

We want to create space for innovation, supporting improvement based on both qualitative and quantitative data and recognising the value and challenge of the 

‘ripple effect’ of our partnership. We will continue to develop our quality improvement approaches to enable more teams from across our system to play an active 

Box 27: What is Quality Improvement (QI)? 

QI is about giving the people closest to issues the time, 

permission, skills and resources they need to innovate. It 

involves a systematic and coordinated approach to solving 

a problem using specific methods and tools with the aim of 

bringing about a measurable improvement. Quality 

Improvement draws on a wide variety of evidenced-based 

methods. It encourages an open, curious, and co-operative 

mindset in practitioners. It requires both technical and 

relational skills in how we work with others and build 

effective teams. 

Fig. 12: Population health management approach 

P
age 47



role in addressing the complex to social challenges we face, to develop a thriving improvement culture across Gloucestershire that energises teams to deliver 

system wide change and integrates an improvement mindset into how we work together every day. 

As a system, we aim to champion evaluation and encourage the evaluation works toolkit and 5-step process (http://www.nhsevaluationtoolkit.net/) in the 

assessment of our projects.  We are also committed to supporting research so that Gloucestershire can benefit from the lates t developments across health and 

social care.  

We know that research active health and care systems deliver better outcomes for patients and populations. It is our responsibility and commitment to the 

patients and public we serve in Gloucestershire to create a vibrant, flourishing research community to promote knowledge exchange and increase our impact 

regionally, nationally and internationally.  We have established a local organisation to champion research: Research 4 Gloucestershire (R4G). R4G brings 

together partners in Health and Social Care and the University of Gloucestershire around the common aim to develop and support research for the benefit of 

patients, carers, staff and our population. 

In 12 months, we will see:  

• Social care and healthcare data are linked and developed into 
intelligence to predict health outcomes, identify inequalities, and used 
to design care interventions and clinical pathways. 

• A comprehensive stocktake of analytical capabilities within the 
system has taken place with an associated development plan agreed. 

• Partners are systematically collecting information which will enable 

identification of inequalities in access, experience, or outcomes to 
tailor services accordingly. These includes information about ethnicity 
and communication needs. 

• Good examples of facilitated integration of quality improvement to 
support some of our systems most challenging priorities. 

In 5 years, we will see:  

• A system wide linked dataset (including social care, children and VCSE data) which 
is accessible to system partners alongside qualitative and engagement products. 

• Routine use of this linked data, and derived intelligence products including 
dashboards, across clinical pathways, strategic and locality planning and working, 
evaluation and within academic communities like Research for Gloucestershire (with 
use of advanced approaches e.g. machine learning where appropriate) 

• The required analytical and digital architecture, data assets, tools and capabilities 

across the system to embed Population Health Management, quality improvement 
and evaluation as business as usual across the system. This includes access to 
timely, linked data by those planning and/or evaluating services. 

• A thriving improvement culture across One Gloucestershire that has enabled teams 
from across our partners to deliver system wide change 

  

P
age 48

http://www.nhsevaluationtoolkit.net/


37 
 

14.1 The case for change 
The last two years have introduced us all to a greater use of technology than ever before, and we are determined to harness its potential to improve and join 
up care for our population. Our system partners have embraced new technologies faster, and adapted to provide support in different ways, to meet the needs 

of local people. Our digital approach seeks to provide simplicity for every citizen when connecting to health and care services across the county. Delivery of 
digitally enabled services is underpinned by our Data and Digital Transformation Plan, delivering platforms that are secure and trusted by our people and our 
care professionals. 

 
Whilst harnessing digital opportunities can bring significant benefits to our system, for 
a range of groups digital exclusion is a significant issue across Gloucestershire (Fig 

13)6. This exclusion comes at a great cost –to the communities who are cut off; to the 
county getting left behind by better connected places; and a tangible cost to individuals 
who are paying higher bills than those who are on-line, find it harder to book health 
appointments or make benefit applications and miss out on potential connections. 

 

Digital inclusivity was a key area highlighted during engagement with partners across 

Gloucestershire when discussing digitally enabled services. Other key areas were 

trialling and identifying new digital technology to solve issues and using analytics and 

technological opportunities to innovate.  

Our digital approach seeks to address these challenges and opportunities whilst 

supporting our net zero ambitions across the county and providing a digital environment 
that encourages research and lifelong learning. We aim to strengthen our integration 
with partner organisations, local authority, and the voluntary sector to use digital 
enablers to better support citizens in their homes as well as in our care facilities.  

 

4.2 How we are already creating change? 
Usage of digital tools by citizens has increased significantly since COVID-19, for example approximately 54% of adults in Gloucestershire now have access to 

the NHS app.  This enables them to view their health record, order prescriptions, book appointments and view their COVID-19 vaccination status. National 

guidance aims to digitise services, connect them, and drive transformation. In practice this means: 

 

• better outcomes and experience for people - a more personalised experience, new ways of accessing care and helping them stay healthy 

 
6 Source: Digital Divide 

Digitally enabled services   

Fig 13: High risk areas for digital exclusion in Gloucestershire 

P
age 49

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/617abf9b742ed51f29193232/t/62443af43d9fc81d2d9a14e4/1648638711164/Digital+Divides+Report.pdf


• better experience for staff - information available for use by 

staff and citizens, reducing the time spent chasing referrals or 

test results, and staff can work more flexibly 

• more effective population health management - ICSs 

understand the needs of their populations, and reshape their 

services to meet them 

 

These aims are key priorities within our digital and partner strategies.  

We want to ensure that our citizens and colleagues have access to 

the tools that they need, wherever they need them.  We want to 

ensure that we are ‘digitally inclusive’. 

 

14.3 Our ambitions 
We have identified five key themes to articulate our approach to 
delivering the digital strategy. These are summarised below: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

• We will maximise the implementation of digital tools, products and services by changing our models of care, workforce and cit izen 
engagement to continue to meet our citizens needs 

 

• Delivery 

Framework 

• Our digital strategy is integral in driving our health and care future, demonstrating our commitment to change through citizen and staff 
engagement, robust planning and prioritisation 

• We will invest in a people-first, needs led change management approach to ensure successful delivery   
 

• All partners will move forward in digital maturity as one, ensuring no partner is left behind and all partners share in digital maturity increases 
and digital skills uplift. 

• We will invest in a digitally inclusive community, ensuring equal access and connectivity to digital solutions 
•  

Box 28: Gloucestershire’s shared care record system, Joining Up Your information (JUYI) 

has been in use across the county since 2018.  JUYI shares information about patients 

from health and social care systems for direct care 

• 500,000+ records have been accessed by clinicians since launch! 

• New data feeds all the time. About to include Ambulance, Adult Social Care, 

IAPTUS. Patient Tracker.  

• Branching out to within Care homes, hospices 

1. Levelling Up 

3. Data & 

Information Sharing 
• We will build the infrastructure, systems, and digital tools to enable appropriate information to be shared in real-time to enable collaborative 

working and decision making, whilst improving planning and evaluation of services 

4. Innovation and 

Growth 

5. Population Health 

Management • PHM tools will give us insights into our population that will support clinical decision making and inform interventions 

“Since we’ve used 

JUYI, I've not asked 

for a clinical 

summary”. 

 

“It's really helped with linking up all sorts of 

information from GP surgeries. We can look at it 

straight away and find a range of different things – 

medication, physical health.” 

P
age 50



39 
 

Simplicity for the citizen - Delivering digital for the population of Gloucestershire  

In delivering digital for the population of Gloucestershire, we will ensure that our solutions are simple to use by citizens and 

support them to have more control over their health and care, to be comfortable in using technology and data to manage 

their health throughout their lives, promoting healthy living and manage long term conditions where required. We will address 

digital exclusion across the county, enabling our citizens to develop digital skills, not only for health and care assistance but 

to improve modern social/digital inclusion, especially with our most vulnerable groups. Facilitating independence of care to 

citizens through digital services. Supporting our digital journey we will have in place the necessary infrastructure, robust 

governance standards, cyber security and services to deliver safe, modern health and care services. Data capture and 

linkage will help us plan our resources and support clinical decision making. Through this we will deliver inclusive services, 

reducing variation and enhancing safety within our ICS. 

 

In 12 months, we will see 

• The people of Gloucestershire will digital services available that 
they value, and are simple, trusted and engaging.   

• Staff in Gloucestershire are able to access their clinical systems 
at any time, in any place, reducing frustration of sourcing 
information  

• A sustainable system with technology enabled care targeted at 

key cohorts of need, reducing costs, workforce constraints 
and/or demand  

In 5 years, we will see 

• The people of Gloucestershire will have improved access and confidence in using digital 
tools and enhancing ability to be an active participant in managing their own health  

• Staff in Gloucestershire will have consistent access to relevant information, digital tools 
and technology enabled care targeted for key services across health and care, 
enhancing care planning   

• A sustainable system with implementation of the infrastructure required to prioritise 

population health prevention, improving outcomes and reducing costs of escalating 
health and care conditions (population heath management) 

 

  

Fig. 14: Delivering digital  

P
age 51



15 Our call to action: Unifying Themes 
We are operating in a complex system and recognise that no one organisation can achieve the changes we seek. Making Gloucestershire the healthiest place 

to live and work, championing equity in life chances and the best health and care outcomes for all cannot be achieved in a simple linear fashion but requires an 

understanding of the interactions between multiple different elements of our system. Working together as equal partners is vi tal not only to achieve our vision 

but to acknowledge and respond to how different part of the system can indirectly, or directly, impact each other.  

Working within complex systems can seem overwhelming, however Myron Rogers, a leading author in complex systems 

provides some simple principles7. One of these is “Start anywhere, follow everywhere”. Following this principle, we have 

selected unifying themes help us test the opportunities and approach to working together as One Gloucestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Partnership. Whilst the themes we’ve selected are based on some key principles (see box 30), many different 

themes may have been suitable. However, this is less about what the unifying themes are and more about using them as a 

litmus test for the strategy and partnership. Our call to action is to work together to make a positive impact on these 

unifying themes. Working on these themes will provide us with important insights over the next year into how we can 

galvanise our collective effort to support the delivery of this strategy. We will use the knowledge we gain by working together 

to develop the next iteration of the Integrated Care Strategy. For each theme an ambition statement has been incorporated, 

we will work together over the coming months to identify what each partner can contribute towards achieving these ambitions, 

the scale of the impact we can collectively commit to, and the indicators we will use to understand our progress. In addition, 

an anchor organisation approach will further be developed in 2023 to support the delivery of these unifying themes. For 2023, 

the One Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership (GHWP) three unifying themes are:  

 
7 M. Wheatley & M. Rogers, A Simpler Way (2012) 

 

Box 29: Key principles for 

selecting the unifying themes 

• Has a clear case for change 

• Enables all partners to be able 

to demonstrate a contribution 

• Operates across the whole life 

course from pre-birth to aging 

well 

• Takes a preventative approach 

• Has the ability to impact on 

health equity 

Theme 3: Blood pressure 

• High blood pressure rarely has symptoms and so 

detection is opportunistic.  

• Around a third of adults in the UK have high blood 

pressure, although many don’t know. In 

Gloucestershire we have identified 60.9% of the 

anticipated cases.  

• Hypertension and the effects are a major cause of 

disability adjusted life years in the UK. 

• Effective treatment of hypertension reduces the risk 

of heart attacks, stroke, heart failure and death.  

Ambition: Increase prevention and early 

identification of high blood pressure and support 

those with a diagnosis to manage their blood 

pressure 

Theme 2: Smoking 

• Smoking is the single biggest cause of inequality 

in premature death rates and the leading cause of 

preventable disease and disability 

• 50% of long-term smokers will die prematurely - 

many more live with debilitating illnesses 

• Higher smoking prevalence is associated with 

almost every indicator of deprivation or 

marginalisation.  In Gloucestershire: 

- Smoking prevalence in adults – 11.6% 
- Routine and manual workers – 26% 
- Smoking prevalence in adults with a serious 

mental illness – 38% 
- Smoking status at time of delivery - 11%  

Ambition: Identify greater numbers of smokers 

and signpost to appropriate smoking cessation 

support  

Theme 1: Employment 

• In Gloucestershire, 8,550 people aged 16 to 

64 are currently unemployed.  

• 79% of people claiming Employment Support 

Allowance have been claiming for over 5 years 

• 13,254 people are claiming Universal Credit 

with no work requirement this is more than 

double the figure in February 2020 (6,020) 

with significant increases in all age groups 20+ 

• 444 young people aged 16-18 are not in 

education, employment or training (NEET) 

• Disabled people are twice as likely to be 

unemployed. 

Ambition: Create additional employment and 

skills development opportunities 

 

P
age 52



41 
 

16. Next steps 

16.1  Creating change 
This strategy will set the blueprint for how our health and care organisations, staff, voluntary and community sector, and our people and communities, can work 

together to achieve the common goal of making Gloucestershire the healthiest place to live and work, championing equity in life chances and the best health 

and care outcomes for all. We will work together as partners to deliver the ‘in 12 months’ and ‘in 5 years’ commitments detailed throughout this document as 

well as the ambitions identified within the unifying themes. 

All partners will be asked to explore what they can contribute to the delivery of this strategy, these contributions will be captured in a high level GHWP delivery 

plan, where we will monitor our progress and where necessary to challenge each other to do better. However, we recognise the need to remain agile and to 

respond to changes in our system, therefore the GHWP will seek to support and not stifle innovation and action.  

16.2 Understanding impact 
It is important to understand if we are making progress towards delivery of our ambitions and ultimately our vision. To define and measure positive progress we 

first must understand what we value. Once we understand this, we can explore whether we are adding value through our work, and ultimately how to measure 

and evaluate that. 

We will develop a set of quantitative high-level indicators to monitor progress against each pillar, condition for change and unifying theme. However, we recognise 

that this is only part of the picture. We seek to use other methods of capturing the cumulative ‘ripple effect’ of the partnership as well as  developing proxy 

indicators and capturing qualitative intelligence, including individual stories to understand the full intended and unintended effects.  

16.3 Learning and iteration 
As we move towards becoming a ‘learning’ system rather than a ‘solutions based’ system, we understand that this strategy is not a static document. We are 

committed to exploring people’s experiences and reflections on how we are working together to help us to further develop our partnership approach.  As the 

partnership grows, we will iterate this Integrated Care Strategy to ensure it continues to pave the way for partners, communities and individuals to work 

collaboratively to make Gloucestershire the healthiest place to live and work, championing equity in life chances and the best health and care outcomes for all.  

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report Title Integrated Performance Report (IPR) January 2023

Purpose of Report This is the Integrated Performance Report (IPR) for NHS Gloucestershire ICB for January 2023. The report brings information together

on:

• Performance

• Quality

• Workforce

A narrative update for each key theme is provided, alongside a full update of performance metrics covering the programmes and pillars

associated with our services, their quality, and our workforce. The report will continue to be developed over time – including expanding

the metrics that are reviewed to give greater assurance across all programme delivery areas.

Is this for information or

decision?

This Report is for information.

Authors

Sponsoring Director

Kat Doherty (Performance)

Clare Hines (Workforce)

Rob Mauler (Quality)

Mark Golledge (PMO)

Mark Walkingshaw

Tracey Cox

Marion Andrews Evans

Senior Performance Management Lead

Workforce and OD Project Lead

Senior Manager – Quality and Commissioning

Associate Director – ICS Development

Director of Operational Planning & Performance – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Interim Director – People, Culture & Engagement – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Executive Chief Nurse – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Key Issues:

• Areas of key exceptions have been included at the front of the Integrated Performance Report.

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 7



Integrated Performance Report

January 2023

P
age 56



Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 &

 D
e
li

v
e
ri

n
g

 O
u

tc
o

m
e
s

Key Achievements

• Cancer wait time performance remains stable, with 

particular focus on challenged specialties to reduce 

backlogs (either for first appointments or treatments) 

and to optimise pathways, particularly where patients 

are referred in from out of area.

• Primary care appointment availability and patient 

satisfaction continues to benchmark highly against 

other systems, and COVID vaccination booster uptake 

remains the highest in England (to the end of 2022).

• System working and coordination via the UEC team 

and close liaison with the relevant trade unions has 

helped to mitigate the impact of industrial action in 

December. 

• The Newton Europe Urgent Care diagnostic process 

has now been completed, with key workstreams 

identified and sponsors and SROs in process of being 

finalised as focus now moves to implementation phase. 

Further support from external organisations has been 

approved through non-recurrent winter funding to 

support performance at this challenging time.

Areas of Focus

• There has been significant increases in pressure across the 

majority of UEC services over the Christmas period with 

deterioration in waiting times and other performance measures 

associated with capacity. Infection by both COVID and flu has been 

increasing in the system with challenges arising in hospital infection 

control, closure of nursing/residential homes and staff sickness 

which is impacting the resilience of services.

• Ambulance handover and response times are under pressure again 

– with increasing time lost to handover and longer Category 2 

response times. Remedial action plans are focussing on reducing 

delays across the pathway and triaging ambulance calls to ensure 

that the most serious incidents receive a quick response.

• An elective recovery task and finish group has been set up to 

support ongoing review of elective activity (including identifying 

areas requiring further attention), pathway transformation and 

maintenance of the reduction in long waits for elective treatment.

• Maternity services continue to implement improvement plans with 

ICB stakeholders and NHSE following the Section 29A notice. A 

Serious Incident around antenatal screening has also been 

declared and an action plan developed to address concerns raised.

Our Performance

Please note the full set of measures and progress against the agreed trajectories is available here.

P
age 57

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Performance-Metrics-January-2023.pdf&data=05|01|jessica.yeates1@nhs.net|a7e7c59957344850bd3d08daf55bd03e|37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3|0|0|638092071917748352|Unknown|TWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D|3000|||&sdata=CQXEwipv1dFU4S%2BswYA7YmSxIeOe/AAhUMQsYBFEes4%3D&reserved=0


Key Achievements

• Preparation and management of industrial action response 

in December 2022

• Stakeholder briefing & scoping sessions held on 2 of 3 

priority areas: Health and Wellbeing and International 

Recruitment.

• Secured funding for The Wellbeing Line for a further year 

from Section 256 monies  following announcement national 

funding is being withdrawn for staff Wellbeing hubs

• Recruitment of key roles to People function structure:-

Widening Participation & Apprenticeship Lead, Retention 

Lead &  Workforce Analyst

Areas of Focus

• Future preparedness for industrial action following 

confirmation of further strike action by nurses, ambulance 

workers and potential for other staff groups

• Continued focus on mapping baseline provision and 

activities for 3 priority areas:  Health and Wellbeing, 

International Recruitment and Agency Spend.

• Developing  response to workforce planning guidance as 

part of Operational Plan 

• Developing a One Gloucestershire People Strategy in Q4 

of 2022/23 

Our People
O

u
r 

P
e

o
p

le
 (

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e

)

P
age 58



Key Achievements

• We have secured £50,000 to review our Dialysis Milage 

Reimbursement Scheme which is seen as an exemplar 

scheme in terms of offer and quality. NHS England want us 

to develop a resource pack that can be shared nationally.

• GHC NHS FT has been categorised as performing "better" 

or "somewhat better" than most of the other mental health 

trusts in 8 of the 12 domains in the Community Mental 

Health Trusts National Survey.

• The System Effectiveness Group met on 9th January. 

There was good representation from all parts of the system 

and the group recognised the opportunities joint working 

could bring for patients.

• Gloucestershire Hospitals Maternity Services have been 

rated very positively among the 121 acute NHS trusts that 

took part in the CQC 2022 National Maternity Survey

Areas of Focus

• A key area of focus will be seeking assurance on the 

Gloucestershire GP Out of Hours service, following a letter 

from CQC.

• We wish to develop the ICB’s understanding of mortality 

data and how the whole system can support partners to 

improve outcomes for patients.

• Moving from ‘discovery’ to ‘governance’ phase of the

• Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF).

• The Quality team are currently working with 

Commissioning and Contracting colleagues on new CQUIN 

guidance and the Quality Schedules for 2023/24 contracts.

• Planning for Industrial Action is adding pressure to an 

already stretched workforce. The key focus is mitigating 

risk and working with system partners to safeguard patient 

safety.

Quality
Q

u
al

it
y 
–

Sa
fe

ty
, E

xp
e

ri
e

n
ce

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

ct
iv

e
n

e
ss

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

P
age 59



Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality and Safety

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Performance)

(System Resources Committee)

P
age 60



Urgent & Emergency Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• ED type 1 performance in December 2022 was 54.6% against the 4 hour target. Whole system performance including Type 3 

(MIIU) attendances was 69.5% in December. This decline in performance has been seen across the country (national data for 

December due 12th January 2023). 

• Ambulance handover delays have particularly increased in the period between Christmas and New Year with a weekly average 

of 268 hours/ day (w/c 26th December), and 5406 hours lost over December (equivalent to 174 hours lost/day and above the 

target of 1977 hours lost in total for December).  Returning to the trajectory level will be challenging for the system

• Category 2 ambulance response times have increased substantially throughout December, with the latest week seeing an 

average response time of 179 minutes. To mitigate these increasing delays, the system has:

• Opened all cohort areas at GHFT emergency department.

• Commenced daily review of the ambulance clinical stack by GHC flow team and system partners.

• Redeployed GHC staff to GHFT to assist with clinical support at the Emergency department front door.

• Increased MIIU shift resilience to support increased demand for these services.

• Commenced regular updates to SWAST on community service capacity and is supporting and encouraging the use of 

these services where appropriate.

• Continued to review patients on arrival at ED to prioritise care and identify alternative pathways where appropriate.

• Continued to focus on simple discharges from ED and AMU to increase flow for ambulance handovers.

• Used Single Point of Clinical Access (SPCA), Home First and Rapid Response teams to bolster the support they are able to 

offer to both keep people out of hospital and help them to be discharged.

• Increased and widened communications to the public to encourage use of appropriate services.

• Continued to carry out triage of Category 2 calls, ensuring that urgent incidents receive prompt responses, and ambulance 

crews are released from hospital handovers when there are urgent cases waiting. 

P
age 61



Urgent & Emergency Care (cont.)
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• The Newton Europe Urgent Care diagnostic process has now been completed, with key workstreams identified and sponsors 

and SROs in process of being finalised as focus now moves to implementation phase. Further support from external 

organisations has been approved through non-recurrent winter funding to support performance at this challenging time.

• £6.7m (£2.1m through the Local Authority and £4.6m through the ICB) has been awarded to Gloucestershire from the national 

£500m discharge fund. The associated plan has prioritised spending on more domiciliary care where new capacity has been 

created, increasing discharge to assess beds and supporting some smaller housing schemes. This should impact on reduced 

numbers of people remaining in hospital without criteria to reside, and increase support in people’s homes. (see winter 

monitoring metrics for NCTR numbers bed occupancy).

• Several additional initiatives are supporting the system to respond to winter demand: New ED footprint to support ambulance 

drop off, The Community Assessment and Treatment Unit (CATU) is now operational to aid admission avoidance, Virtual ward 

expansion is underway to offer a home alternative to hospital admission, Discharge to Assess ward at Kingham Unit will aid 

rehabilitation, and the GHFT winter ward (estate works underway) will expand the bed base. The new discharge waiting area 

opened at GHFT on the 3rd January 2023 with increased capacity to support more efficient discharge, and Cohort areas remain 

open within the emergency department.

• The System Control Centre remains in action continuing to support system flow and escalation 7 days a week.

• System partners continue to work closely together to prepare for and mitigate the impact of the current round of industrial action. 

This is being carefully co-ordinated by the Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response (EPRR) process. This includes 

close liaison between provider Trusts and the relevant Trade Unions.

P
age 62



Planned Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• The waiting list for elective care in Gloucestershire is currently running at 65,537 with the majority waiting at GHFT. 73.3% of the 

RTT waiting list had been waiting less than 18 weeks in November (against a target of 92%), with 1472 patients waiting over 52 

weeks, 81 waiting over 78 weeks and 4 (all out of county) waiting over 104 weeks.

• Recovery of weighted cost activity for the Elective Recovery Fund target is predicted to be just under the 104% threshold – with

current performance around 103% (October Flex data). YTD performance has seen good recovery in outpatient activity 

(particularly at GHFT) but below target activity in elective inpatient procedures, particularly day cases which have been impacted 

by capacity reductions while essential building work takes place. OOC NHS providers currently are showing the lowest activity

recovery across the board. Independent sector provider contribution to system elective recovery plan and ESRF achievement is 

well above plan. Currently financial penalties for failing to meet the target have been suspended by NHSE; arrangements for M7-

M12 have not yet been confirmed.

• Demand for Advice and Guidance has continued to rise with 3,017 requests received in November 2022 (up from 2,891 the 

month previous), with 417 additional Cinapsis requests. Response times for a number of specialties have deteriorated 

(particularly Dermatology, Haematology and Paediatrics), however the number of outstanding requests is beginning to reduce. 

The outcome of the Advice and Guidance procurement has now been confirmed, with Cinapsis remaining as the provider for 

Gloucestershire.

• The Outpatient programme has rolled out a number of tools to support primary care with referral optimisation. An ENT podcast 

series has commenced - published to G-care; Four new dermatology virtual training courses for GPs have been arranged; A 

minor skin surgery training course has been carried out to support recovery of minor surgery in primary care.

P
age 63



Cancer
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• 2 week wait performance remains stable at 87.8% in November 2022. There were 321 breaches mostly in Lower GI, Sarcoma 

and Haematological malignancies. 62 day treatment performance has declined, dropping to 63.6% in November – with 80 

breaches of the target this month including 32 patients who were treated after 104 days (19 in Urology). 62 day breaches were

predominantly in Lower GI and Urology – as in previous recent months, with Breast, Haematology, Skin and Lung seeing a small 

number of 62 day breaches.

• There are very few patients across any specialty waiting over 62 days with a decision to treat – reflecting the complex diagnostic 

pathways that often contribute to longer waits for cancer treatment. Less than 1% of the cancer PTL consists of patients who 

have a treatment confirmed and have waited more than 62 days. The trajectory for the 62 day PTL (patients waiting more than 62 

days for cancer treatment from referral) aims to have no more than 154 patients waiting by March 2023 – currently there are 371 

(at 25th December 2022).

• A weekly cancer recovery group focussing on the most challenged specialties has been set up and is chaired by the COO at 

GHFT (currently focussing on Lower GI and Urology). Currently additional face to face appointments have been set up to 

address demand from patients not suitable for the straight to test pathway in Lower GI to reduce the number who would 

otherwise breach the 2ww target.

• Work exploring early diagnosis and opportunities to narrow gaps associated with deprivation (in particular the Core20 population) 

is underway with work initially focussing on access to cancer services. Initial findings focussing on the make up of the cancer 

patient list have been presented to the ICB board and will be refined for further analysis and updates in the coming months.

P
age 64



Primary Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s • Patient need for GP surgery services in the county continues to be extremely high, with practices seeing a significant increase in 

contacts since 2019. Appointment volume was the highest on record in October 2022 with 406,275 appointments recorded in 

Gloucestershire GP practices (this includes GP and other clinical staff, face to face, virtual and telephone appointments) and 

remained high at 399,492 appointments delivered in November 2022.

• Primary care metrics assessed in the System Oversight Framework are all performing well with rates of appointments, rates of 

GPs workforce, rates of direct patient care staff, and experience of making a GP appointment all benchmarking in the top quartile 

compared to other ICBs across England. Gloucestershire ICB is ranked 1/42 systems for both rate of GP appointments carried 

out (in July 2022) and for experience of making a GP appointment.

• There has been significant interest in the publication of the General Practice Access Data (GPAD) nationally, with focus on the 

appointment availability and time waiting for appointments covered in national and local press. Data released in October 

highlighted Gloucestershire has having a large number of people waiting over 4 weeks for a GP appointment compared to other 

systems. However, the GPAD data does not take into account the reason for the wait: some patients may need, or choose, to 

wait longer. Some of these waits may be clinically appropriate, a follow up appointment (for example medicines 6 week review or 

a check up for a condition such as depression), or a patient may choose to wait to see or speak to a particular member of the

practice team. The larger number of appointments seen booked after 4 weeks may also be symptomatic of greater appointment 

availability in the system – the data has not been benchmarked and remains an experimental statistic so should be interpreted 

with caution.

• The Autumn Booster for COVID vaccination has been formally extended to mid-February 2023 to allow time for those still eligible 

for an Autumn Booster to receive one if they have not already. At the end of 2022 – 73.6% of all those eligible for an Autumn 

Booster in Gloucestershire had received their booster dose. This was the highest uptake level achieved by any system (ICS) in

England for this phase of the programme. The next phase from January to March will use a reduced selection of sites (PCN and 

Community Pharmacy) to deliver ongoing vaccinations ensuring everyone can take up the vaccination offer (1st, 2nd or Booster 

dose).

P
age 65



Diagnostics
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Funding for Community Diagnostic Hubs has now been confirmed – with the new hub in Gloucester city due to be fully 

operational by October 2023. Additional capacity across Non-obstetric ultrasound, CT, plain film x-ray and MRI is already 

operational, with additional Echocardiography due to come on line throughout 2023.

• Diagnostic test activity has increased by 11.2% in November compared to October 2022 – with 19,430 tests carried out across 

the 15 key modalities. The waiting list has reduced to its lowest level this financial year – with 10,554 patients waiting at the end 

of November.

• Waiting times for tests continue to improve, 17.4% of the waiting list was waiting more than 6 weeks at the end of November 

2022 (compared to 20.2% in October). At GHFT all test waiting lists except for endoscopy, echocardiography, urodynamics and 

sleep studies tests had less than 1% waiting over 6 weeks, with MRI, CT, Barium Enema, Dexa scans, Electrophysiology,, and 

Peripheral Neurophys tests having no patients breaching the waiting time target in November 2022. Reporting times for imaging

tests at GHFT are currently 4-6 weeks, which is not routinely monitored as a performance target, but may be into 2023/24. GHFT 

are in discussions to outsource some imaging reporting to support reductions in these waiting times. 

• Additional echo insourcing capacity has been established with an independent provider (Agile) which has focussed 

predominantly on reducing internal delays at GHFT (and thus may not have initially removed long waiters from the DM01 waiting

list). This focus has now moved to the DM01 waiting list and so should start to impact performance in the coming months. Further

discussions with additional providers of echocardiography capacity are underway to support the continued improvement of 

waiting times for this modality.

• A first meeting of the ICB Diagnostics board bringing together key stakeholders for diagnostics in the Gloucestershire system

was held on the 18th November 2022. The board will help define the aims of the programme, the drivers and activities to deliver 

it, and agree what success looks like.

P
age 66



Adult and Children's Mental Health
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Out of Area Placements remain above planned levels with 720 days declared in 22/23 YTD (April-November) – although only 10 

new days were declared in November. The total for the full 2022/23 year plan is 800 over the course of the year, meaning the 

target at the end of M8 (November) is 528. While the national ambition for this target is 0, this is extremely challenging to balance 

the needs of a patient for urgent treatment, with system flow and bed availability. Performance is likely to be extremely 

challenging over the winter months, with GHC considering block booking of out of area beds due to high demand and increasing 

numbers of people remaining in the community against their best interests.

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) access has been below the planned levels throughout 2022/23 – referral 

volume has been below the level needed to meet this target for the last three months. NHSE has recently briefed service leads

stating that there has been a reduction in referrals across the Southwest Region and this is having significant impact on services’ 

ability to meet access targets – locally referrals are more than 10% lower in the 22/23 financial year than last year.

• Perinatal mental health service access increased slightly with 41 referrals seen across all pathways in November, and 37.5% of 

routine referrals seen within a 2 week time frame. All referrals were seen within 5 weeks, however to meet the target the service 

is looking at new ways of working to increase available appointments to ~15/week. The team is currently awaiting new starters

(expected November and December) which will help to improve access times in the coming months.

• Eating disorders - All waiting times targets for routine and urgent CYP and Adult referral to treatment were missed in November.

Additional investment to the eating disorders service has been made as well as a review of the team skill mix to increase 

success in filling posts. Recruitment to a number of posts has been successful with further recruitment planned. The service is 

working with BEAT with people able to self-refer to the BEAT ‘Developing Dolphins’ programme whilst they are waiting for 

individual treatment. BEAT can work with up to 60 families by December 2022 and are commissioned to work with up to 120 

families in total. BEAT have received 34 referrals thus far and are in the process of providing course start dates to carers and

families. The overall numbers on the caseload have begun to reduce – and are currently 992 (as of October 2022) – down from 

over 1300 in the summer months.

P
age 67



Maternity & Neonatal
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• NHSE Fetal Anomaly screening programme (FASP) are supporting GHFT to investigate women who may have missed antenatal 

first trimester screening due to delay in referral and lack of scan capacity at GHT. A serious incident relating to this screening was 

declared by GHFT on Monday 5th December and a draft action plan has been developed and shared with NHSE. Weekly 

meetings between GHFT and NHSE to review progress against the action plan have been put in place.

• National audit MMBRACE has highlighted a deterioration in performance against peer trusts at GHFT in terms of neonatal 

outcomes in 2020 – this coincided with the beginning of the covid-19 pandemic so data is hard to interpret although a rise in 

stillbirths appears to have been seen at GHFT in 2020, in common with several other trusts. The study uses birth data from ONS 

and PDS (Personal Demographics Service) which is geographically based rather than specific to GHFT (i.e. not all GHFT births 

relate to Gloucestershire women and not all Gloucestershire women deliver within GHFT). Further review of this data is 

underway, however stillbirth and neonatal death rates in 2021 and 2022 have fallen again, and stillbirths are under the current 

target rate for the 2022/23 year. 

• Progress against the action plan developed following the section 29A notice served to GHFT maternity services continues, with

focus on updating standard operating procedures and ensuring staff training is up to date.

• Currently Cheltenham Aveta birth unit and postnatal beds at Stroud Maternity Hospital remain closed due to staffing pressures, 

with this position to be reviewed monthly from January 2023. Additional recruitment of maternity staff has taken place to help 

alleviate the pressure on the service with 14 new starters beginning at GHFT in October and an additional seven offers made for 

November 2022. 

• Nationally, the full implementation of the Continuity of Carer (CoC) target has been paused due to recognition that staffing levels 

across the majority of trusts do not support safe provision of this model. Gloucestershire performance has risen to 10.4% of 

pregnancies supported on the CoC model in October 2022 (up from 8.6% at the start of the year) with delivery of the model 

targeted to areas of highest deprivation in the county.

P
age 68



Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality and Safety

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Priorities)

(System Resources Committee)P
age 69



O
u

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 (
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
)

Our People
Our local work plan continues to be based around the key pillars within the national People Plan.

Growing for the Future

• International recruitment – Continued scoping potential to deliver at least one international recruitment initiative which is shared 

across multiple system partners. 

• Proposal for System wide Communication Recruitment Campaign agreed at WSG 09/11/22 – funding request to be submitted 

against Sec 256 monies 

Looking After Our People

• Health & Wellbeing – Review  of existing arrangements  and offers of health & wellbeing support  across the  ICS.  Mapping of 

existing service arrangements due for completion in early Jan.  

• Evaluation of One Gloucestershire Leadership programme presented to OD Steering Group meeting on 7th December, showing 

positive outcomes and high satisfaction rates amongst participants.

Belonging in the NHS 

• System wide Reciprocal mentoring programme  - recruitment of mentors and mentees completed in December.

New Ways of Working 

• Development of draft costed  plan for Oliver McGowan training  for staff in  response for the statutory requirement for all health 

and care staff to receive training on learning disability and autism appropriate to their role.  This applies to all staff, not just those 

in Learning Disability and Autism services.

• Legacy mentoring proposals and projects now developed for nursing, AHP and midwifery staff.

P
age 70



O
u

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 (
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
)

Growing for the Future – Metrics
Growing for the Future Metrics

Update 

Frequency
Level

Latest Data 

Date

Previous 

Position
Latest Position Change 

Direction of 

travel
Target if set

S074a: National 

data

FTE doctors in General Practice per 

10,000 weighted patients
Monthly

ICS-Primary 

care
Oct-22 7.0 6.8 -0.2 worse

S075a:  National 

data

FTE Direct Patient Care (including 

PCNs) staff in GP practices per 10,000 

weighted patients
Monthly

ICS-Primary 

care
Oct-22 7.1 7.2 0.1 better

NHS Local 

metric - national 

data

Primary Care Nurses - fte Monthly
ICS-Primary 

care
Oct-22 223 225 2.0 better

Agency wte Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 289.7 325.8 36.1 worse

Bank wte Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 895.7 696.4 -199.3 Worse*

* Assume 

increased bank 

staff support 

reduction in 

agency costs 

NHS Local 

metric

Nursing Vacancy rate:               Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 13.61% 14.08% 0.47% worse

Nursing workforce - delivery of planned 

growth - WTE employed 
Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 3,317 3,307 -10.0 worse 3,373

Nursing workforce - delivery of planned 

growth - WTE employed including 

PCNs

Monthly ICS Oct-22 3,540 3,532 -8.0 worse 3,373

SIP vs Establishment - all staff Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 89.71% 89.47% -0.24% worse

SC Local metric

Adult Social Workers Quarterly GCC - Adult Sep-22 106.30 100.60 -5.70 worse

Children's Social Workers Qtrly
GCC-

Children's
Sep-22 280.50 288.60 8.10 better

NB: National data means taken from national data sources

P
age 71



O
u

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 (
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
)

Looking After Our People - Metrics
Looking After Our People Metrics

Update 

Frequency
Level

Latest Data 

Date

Previous 

Position

Latest 

Position
Change 

Direction of 

travel

Target if 

set

S060a: National 

data
NHS Staff Survey compassionate leadership Annual ICS-NHS 2021 n/a 6.84/10

S069a: National 

data
NHS Staff Survey Engagement theme score Annual ICS-NHS 2021 7.0 6.8 -0.2 worse

S063a:

National data

Proportion of staff who say they have personally experienced 

harassment, bullying or abuse at work from; a) managers

Annual

ICS-NHS

2021

11.50% 11.50% 0.00% same

b) other colleagues
ICS-NHS 18.90% 19.70% 0.80% worse

c) patients / service users, their relatives or other 

members of the public in the last 12 months ICS-NHS 26.80% 29.90% 3.10% worse

S067a: National 

data
NHS Leaver Rate (12 month rolling leaver as % of all staff) Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 14.70% 14.80% 0.10% worse

S068a: National 

data
Sickness absence rate (working days lost to sickness) Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 4.80% 5.10% 0.30% worse

SC Local metric

Adults Directorate - Staff Turnover (12 month rolling year, 

staff leaving as a % of all staff)
Quarterly GCC - Adult Sep-22 13.50% 14.90% 1.40% worse

Adults - Sickness absence rate (Average working days lost 

per FTE)
Quarterly GCC - Adult Sep-22 5.00% 5.90% 0.90% worse 2.25%

Adults - total number of leavers in 12 months employed 

12months or less
Quarterly GCC - Adult Sep-22 16.20% 18.00% 1.80% worse

SC Local metric

Children's Directorate - Staff Turnover (12 month rolling year, 

staff leaving as a % of all staff)
Qtrly

GCC -

Children's
Sep-22 14.30% 14.70% 0.40% worse

Children's - Sickness absence rate (Average working days lost 

per FTE)
Qtrly

GCC -

Children's
Sep-22 2.70% 2.80% 0.10% worse

Children's - total number of leavers in 12 months employed 

12months or less
Qtrly

GCC -

Children's
Sep-22 13.00% 9.90% -3.10% better

NHS Local 

metric

Proportion of all staff net change (leaving/joining)  the NHS 

each year (12 month rolling)
Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 0.03% 0.42% 0.39% better

Proportion of all staff leaving the NHS that leave within one 

year (12 month rolling)
Monthly ICS-NHS Oct-22 17.93% 18.37% 0.44% worse

P
age 72



O
u

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 (
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
)

Belonging in the NHS– Metrics

Belonging in the NHS Metrics
Update 

Frequency
Level

Latest Data 

Date

Previous 

Position
Latest Position Change 

Direction of 

travel
Target if set

S071a: National 

data

Proportion of staff in senior leadership 

roles (AfC bands 8c and above, 

including executive board members) 

who are a) from a BME background 

(headcount)

Annual ICS-NHS 2021

22/23 12%

23/24 16%

24/25  20%

b) Women  (headcount)

22/23 62%

23/24 64%

24/25  66%

c) Disabled   (headcount)

22/23 3.2%

23/24 3.6%

24/25  4.0%

S072a: National 

data

Proportion of staff who agree that their 

organisation acts fairly with regard to 

career progression / promotion, 

regardless of ethnic background, 

gender, religion, sexual orientation, 

disability or age

Annual ICS-NHS 2021 54.70% 55.00% 0.30% better

SC Local metric

Adults - Proportion of staff in senior 

leadership (RB4+) roles who are from a 

BME background

Annual GCC - Adult Jul-22 5.00% 5.30% 0.30% better

Adults - Proportion of staff in senior 

leadership (RB4+) roles who are 

women

Annual GCC - Adult Jul-22 80.00% 75.00% -5.00% worse

NHS Local 

metric

Relative Likelihood of staff being 

appointed from shortlisting across all 

posts - WRES/WDES
Quarterly

GHFT

GHC - BME
Q2 Sep-22

0.66% 0.63%
worse

GHC-White 0.68% 0.61%

Band 8a+b diversity: %BME

Quarterly

ICS-NHS Q2 Sep-22 5.50% 5.40% -0.10% worse

band 1-4 diversity: %BME ICS-NHS Q2 Sep-22 10.70% 10.60% -0.10% worse

band 5-6 diversity: %BME ICS-NHS Q2 Sep-22 16.10% 16.80% 0.70% better

P
age 73



Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality 

(Safety, Experience 

and Effectiveness)

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Priorities)

(System Resources Committee)P
age 74



Assurance
Community and Mental Health

Access challenges continue to exist in a number of service areas including the Eating Disorders Service and CAMHS. Recruitment 

and retention continue to impact service recovery work and workforce pressures have been highlighted as a concern in mental 

health inpatient units, district nursing and across all therapies (including Podiatry).

Community Mental Health Trusts – National Survey 2022:

The Trust has been categorised as performing "better" or "somewhat better" than most of the other mental health trusts in 8 of the 

12 domains with the Trust remaining in the top 20% performing Trusts in most domains (9 out of 12). Three areas from the survey 

have been identified for improvement; NHS Talking Therapies, Crisis Care and Organising Care. An action plan will be co-

developed with members of the Survey Reference Group.

Following promotion of the Level 1 Patient Safety Training module in November, 17% of GHC have completed the training to date.

Urgent and Emergency Care

UEC has remained in the spotlight over the Christmas and New Year period. Both EDs remain extremely busy and with rising 

COVID and flu cases the departments remain under significant pressure. With further industrial action on the horizon, the situation 

is likely to remain extremely challenging. Due to the unprecedented demand through ED the decision was made by the Executive 

Tri to board patients on the wards with a ‘Pre-empting and Boarding of Patients Action Plan’ which is now in place. This decision 

was made to share the risk that sat with patients waiting for care and treatment in ambulances, with the intention to release

ambulances to respond to emergencies in the community. Daily safety huddles and weekly action plan review meetings are in place 

to monitor the data, safety, quality and patient experience.

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

P
age 75



Assurance
Primary Care

The ICB has recently supported public events such as the open evening promoting the new primary healthcare facility proposal in 

Lydney and liaison with patient representative from Drybrook and Mitcheldean Surgeries regarding the primary care changes in that 

part of the Forest of Dean. The new General Practice Nurse Strategic Lead role commenced at the beginning of December, work is 

underway to review the current Primary Care Nursing position, recruitment and retention planning and nursing strategy. The first

meeting for the legacy mentoring initiative has taken place with the view to sharing the mentoring resource across the county and 

the first ‘Nurse on Tour’ went out in early December. This was reported to be a successful day with great feedback from the students 

and the surgeries and in total 48 patients were seen and had blood pressure checks.

Maternity

The ICB continues to meet with GHT and CQC to monitor actions relating to the section 29A notice; good progress is being made. 

Three NHSE national team Maternity Improvement Advisors visited to commence the diagnostic part of the Maternity Safety 

Support programme in Sept 22 and we are still awaiting the report.

Due to staffing issues the Aveta Birth Unit remains closed to intrapartum care; clinics and DAU work continues to operate from the 

freestanding birth unit during the day. This action is currently being reviewed . Stroud Maternity Unit postnatal beds have been

closed since 30th September and will be reviewed weekly.

Gloucestershire Hospitals Maternity Services have been rated very positively among the 121 acute NHS trusts that took part in the 

CQC 2022 National Maternity Survey. The survey results reveal the responses from women who had given birth during February 

2022. A total of 228 service users in Gloucestershire completed the survey, which asked questions about all aspects of their 

maternity care from the first time they saw a clinician or midwife, during labour and birth, through to the care provided at home 

following the arrival of their baby.

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

P
age 76



Safety

Serious Incidents in November

and December 2022

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s Incidents declared under the current framework

• One incident declared by GHNHSFT was classed as a ‘Never Event’. This 

involved a misplaced NG tube.

• Although not translating into Serious Incidents, GHNHSFT has seen an 

increase in incidents being reported connected to the number of patients 

boarded and the opening of escalation areas.

• Two incidents involving Gloucestershire patients occurred in North Bristol 

Trust; an unexpected  Maternal death and a medication incident. BNSSG ICB 

takes the lead on these incidents, but  liaises with One Gloucestershire ICB.

Mortality

• For the last two reporting months (June and July 22) GHNHSFT have 

triggered negative  national outlier indicators for Summary Hospital-level 

Mortality Indicator (SHMI). SHMI is a  hospital-level indicator which reports 

mortality at trust level across the NHS (acute care trusts  only) in England.

• Following discussion 

with NHS England it is 

suggested that this is 

likely to be an issue 

connected to coding, 

rather than the quality of 

care.

• The diagram opposite 

shows the SHMI outlier 

in relation to other 

metrics.

Serious Incidents include acts or omissions in 

care that result  in: unexpected or avoidable 

death, unexpected or avoidable injury resulting 

in  serious harm , including those where the 

injury required treatment.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Unexpected /
potentially

avoidable  death

Unexpected /
potentially

avoidable  injury
causing  serious

harm

Incident
demonstrating

existing risk

Never Event Unexpected /
potentially

avoidable  injury
requiring

treatment to
prevent death

or serious harm

Core Reason for Reporting

P
age 77



Experience
Friends and Family Test Results: April – October 2022

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a 

feedback tool that supports the fundamental 

principle that people who use NHS funded 

services should have the  opportunity to 

provide feedback on their  experience. 

Listening to the views of  patients and staff 

helps identify what is  working well, what can 

be improved and  how. The FFT asks a 

simple question: how  likely, on a scale 

ranging from extremely  unlikely to 

extremely likely, are you to  recommend the 

service to friends and  family if they needed 

similar care or  treatment. The last five 

month’s published  results can be found 

opposite.

General Practice FFT

Following a suspension during the  

pandemic FFT results for Primary Care (GP  

practices) have been published since July  

2022. In September 2022 41/70 practices  

submitted no data, in October 2022 23/70  

practices submitted no data - this is a  

positive move in the right direction.

% satisfaction was 91% in September 2022  

and 92% in October 2022 (in line with  

England averages).

Apr-22

Provider

May-22

Provider

Jun-22

Provider

Jul-22

Provider

Aug-22

Provider

Sep-22

Provider

Oct-22

Provider

GHT
Inpatients

%

Positive 88% 87% 87% 89% Nodata 89% 88%
%

Negative 7% 8% 7% 6% Nodata 6% 7%

GHTA&E

%

Positive 63% 67% 70% 68% 71% 69% 69%

%

Negative 27% 23% 20% 23% 18% 23% 22%

GHC
Ment

al  

Healt

h

%

Positive 81% 81% 83% 84% 79% 89% 78%

%

Negative 8% 10% 10% 8% 11% 7% 12%

GHC
Community

%

Positive 95% 95% 95% 96% 96% 95% 95%
%

Negative 3% 2% 3% 2% 2% 2% 2%

P
age 78

https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/


Effectiveness

The System Effectiveness Group (SEG) was held on 9th January 2023. There was good representation from all system partners

and an enthusiasm to work together across pathways to adopt best practice and reduce variation. GHC and GHT gave updates

regarding their audit programmes and are in the process of planning for 2023/24.

It was agreed at the SEG that the group will review policy changes and make recommendations to the Quality Committee for final

sign off, it is suggested that we trial this process for six months and review.

The policies discussed were being skin lesions and continuous glucose monitoring – the papers will be forwarded to the

committee. There was a discussion regarding clear quality monitoring statements in the policies and to confirm that one of the

functions of the SEG is to challenge the robustness of the quality monitoring within them.

The new CQUIN guidance for 2023/24 was recently published setting out the national schemes for all settings. (NHS England »

2023/24 CQUIN).

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

P
age 79

https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-23-24/


Effectiveness

The chart opposite shows the

overview of this year’s

CQUINS, which the SEG

took particular interest in.

The group showed ambition

to move beyond the

numbers and KPIs and look

at the real different the

schemes can make to

patients, especially around

reducing variation.

Q
u

a
li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Acute Specialised Acute Mental Health Specialised 

Mental Health

Community Ambulance

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Assessment 

and 

documentation 

of pressure 

ulcer risk

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Achieving 

progress 

towards 

Hepatitis C 

elimination 

within lead 

Hepatitis C 

centres

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Flu 

vaccinations 

for frontline 

healthcare 

workers

Compliance 

with timed 

diagnostic 

pathways for 

cancer 

services

Identification 

and response 

to frailty in 

emergency 

departments

Supporting 

patients to 

drink, eat and 

mobile 

(DrEaMing) 

after surgery

Improving the 

quality of 

shared 

decision-

making 

conversations

Outcome 

measurement 

across 

specified 

mental health 

services

Outcome 

measurement 

across 

specified 

mental health 

services

Malnutrition 

screening in 

the community

Timely 

communication 

of changes to 

medicines to 

community 

pharmacists 

via the 

Discharge 

Medicines 

Service

Supporting 

patients to 

drink, eat and 

mobile 

(DrEaMing) 

after surgery

Achieving the 

national 

standard of 

patients with 

chronic limb 

threatening 

ischaemia 

undergoing 

revascularisati

on within 5 

days of 

admission

Treatment of 

non-small-cell 

lung cancer 

(stage I or II) in 

line with the 

national 

optimal lung 

cancer 

pathway

Reducing the 

need for the 

use of 

restrictive 

practices in 

adult 

inpatient/older 

adult MH 

setting

Reducing the 

need for the 

use of 

restrictive 

practices in 

CYPMH 

inpatient 

settings

Assessment, 

diagnosis and 

treatment of 

lower leg 

wounds

Recording of 

and response 

to NEWS2 

score for 

unplanned 

critical care 

admissions

Prompt 

switching of 

intravenous to 

oral 

antimicrobial 

treatment

Assessment 

and 

documentation 

of pressure 

ulcer risk

P
age 80



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
31 January 2023

NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board 
Update

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



2

NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) Update  

Report contents

This is the third report of NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) since its 
establishment on 1 July 2022. 

Section 1 provides a general NHS Gloucestershire commissioner update, incorporating 
national consultations. 

Section 2 provides a commissioner update focussing on primary medical care.

Section 3 provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 
and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST)

1. Section 1: Local NHS Commissioner Update, NHS 
Gloucestershire ICB

These are items are for information and noting. Detailed information can be found on 
the ICB website at: https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/category/board-meetings/ 

1.1 FOCUS on We can move (WCM) Active Gloucestershire and ICB partnership 

Physical activity plays a crucial role in maintaining health and wellbeing; however, 
people in the UK are around 20% less active now than in the 1960s. If the current 
trend continues, nationally we will be 35% less active by 2030. The way we live our 
lives has changed, fewer of us have manual jobs and technology dominates at home 
and at work, the two places where we spend most of our time, whilst societal 
changes have designed physical activity out of our lives. As a result, we are the first 
generation to need to make a conscious decision to be active in our daily lives. 

Being active is good for our mental and physical health and reduces our risk of 
developing a number of health conditions. It is well known that physical activity has 

Page 82

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/category/board-meetings/


3

the potential to make an enormously positive impact on health and wellbeing. 
Indeed, the former UK CMO Professor Dame Sally Davies once tweeted: “If physical 
activity were a drug, we would refer to it as a miracle cure.” 

The transformational ability of regular physical activity can reduce the risk of hip 
fractures by 68%; type 2 diabetes by 40%; heart disease by 35%; and depression by 
30%. At the same time there is an economic cost of inactivity. Inactivity is costing the 
UK an estimated £7.4 billion a year, including £0.9 billion to the NHS1 (ref) and £4.7 
million per year to Gloucestershire CCG alone 2. Long term conditions such as 
diabetes, cardiovascular and respiratory disease lead to greater dependency on 
acute, community, home, residential and ultimately nursing care. This drain on 
resources is avoidable, as is the personal strain it puts on families and individuals. 

Physical activity’s role in improving health and wellbeing is recognised nationally. 
Policy documents such as the government’s 2019 green paper ‘Advancing our 
health: prevention in the 2020s’ 3 and the NHS Long Term Plan4 recognise the need 
for more preventative approaches to improving health, and the role physical activity 
can play. Locally we have targeted increased population level rates of physical 
activity as one of the seven central priorities for the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing strategy5. 

WCM’s ambition is to halve physical inactivity rates by 2030. To do so we estimate, 
based on the latest research that we will need to support 74,000 inactive people. 
WCM began delivery of a three-year test and learn pilot in 2018, after extensive desk 
research and conversations with individuals, communities and organisations across 
Gloucestershire. WCM is now in a longer period of sustained delivery, with ICB & 
local government funding secured alongside Sport England funding through until 
2026. It revolves around a theory of change which has systems science, behaviour 
change, and social movement building at its core. The programme pulls together 
various stakeholders from different sectors and organisations to understand the 
systems which influence the population-levels of physical activity. This includes the 
role of schools, healthcare, the workplace, our travel infrastructure, and wider 
agendas such as climate change. 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day/health-
matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-inactivity-economic-costs-to-nhs-clinical-
commissioning-groups

3 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s/advancing-our-
health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document

4 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/

5 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/gloucestershire-health-and-wellbeing-board/our-
focus/ 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-inactivity-economic-costs-to-nhs-clinical-commissioning-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-inactivity-economic-costs-to-nhs-clinical-commissioning-groups
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s/advancing-our-health-prevention-in-the-2020s-consultation-document
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/gloucestershire-health-and-wellbeing-board/our-focus/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/gloucestershire-health-and-wellbeing-board/our-focus/


4

By working with stakeholders, WCM seeks to change many different parts of this 
system. This often also means working in partnership with the public and the 
communities across Gloucestershire to co-design interventions and actions. For 
example, a group of women within the Barton and Tredworth ward of Gloucester 
have co-designed various activities over the last three years. These activities have 
enabled women, predominantly Muslim, to participate in organised physical 
activities. 

Active Gloucestershire sit at the heart of WCM, overseeing and facilitating the 
programme of work. Their role is largely to drive initiatives forward and perhaps more 
importantly, to strengthen the relationships between stakeholders across the system. 
In doing so, this prompts other organisations to carry out work which aligns to the 
goals of WCM, and as such, increases the sustainability and impact of the approach.

Active Gloucestershire’s Structure 
Gloucestershire’s Active Partnership, is a charitable organisation who receive core 
funding for their work through Sport England. Active Partnerships (formerly County 
Sports Partnerships or CSP's) are a network of 43 local agencies across England. 
Committed to working together to create the conditions for an active nation, focusing 
on those who will benefit the most from an active lifestyle, through increasing the 
number of people taking part in sport and physical activity. They are led by a central 
team of people whose job is to provide leadership and co-ordination of the network 
at a sub-regional level. 

Established as a nationwide network nearly 20 years ago, the Partnerships have 
become a significant part of the sport and physical activity landscape across 
England. They have successfully delivered a number of high impact programmes, 
built strong local networks and adopted the highest standards of governance. A 
unique feature of the Active Partnerships is their independence, working across all 
sports, activities, providers and audiences, focused on the needs of their local 
communities. 

The Active Partnerships mission is to 'increase levels of engagement in sport and 
physical activity, reducing levels of inactivity, tackling stubborn inequalities and using 
the power of sport and physical activity to transform lives.

ICB role in WCM 
NHS Gloucestershire ICB is one of the founding partners of WCM and continues to 
play an active role in the partnership in shaping, supporting and promoting the 
movement. The ICB provides funding to, and holds a contract with, Active 
Gloucestershire for delivery of WCM. However, this is not a traditional model of 
service delivery in which Active Gloucestershire are the provider of a service directly 
commissioned by the ICB. The structure represents a move to a more relational 
commissioning model whereby the contract funding represents a contribution, as an 

Page 84



5

equal partner, towards the whole movement rather than a traditional 
commissioner/provider relationship. Strong relationships between partners are key in 
this approach as we walk alongside each other learning and evolving the movement 
as we go. 

1.2 Working in partnership to tackle health inequalities for homeless people in 
Gloucestershire

Taking a holistic approach to treating homeless people attending 
emergency departments is helping to break the cycle of homelessness
Between 400 to 600 homeless people attend Emergency Departments (ED) at 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) every year. The 
statistics are startling and show that there are avoidable and unfair differences in the 
way homeless people experience care. Around a third of homeless deaths are the 
results of treatable medical conditions and homeless people are likely to attend ED 
six times more frequently than the housed population and stay in hospital for three 
times as long. 

Homelessness is a very complex problem which can be caused by several different 
factors which can be very challenging to treat. Trauma has often played a key part in 
influencing someone’s journey to homelessness. Until we look at the person as a 
whole and work out what the multiple and complex factors are that played a major 
part in getting them into the situation they are in, we can’t begin to help that person. 
Once we complete the puzzle of their lives, we can start to think about why they are 
using ED so frequently and what kind of help and interventions will get them back on 
track after discharge. We are stronger and more efficient when we look at this as a 
partnership. 

A homeless patient project in ED at GHNHSFT was the catalyst for change. This led 
to an approach being made to the Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership 
(SHP) – a partnership made up of the six district councils, the county council and the 
Integrated Care Board (ICB). By working as a wider partnership with the local 
authority and voluntary and community sector organisations (VCS), health and care 
professionals joined forces to make sure homeless patients received the right 
support following discharge from ED. 

The quality improvement (QI) project focused on developing a pathway for 
supporting homeless ED attenders. Professionals are now able to help homeless 
patients access accommodation directly from ED. Along with two new dedicated 
support roles within the community support service, this streamlined process has 
improved the standard of care experienced by vulnerable homeless patients. Shona 
Duffy became the Homeless Specialist Nurse at Gloucester Hospital, and her idea 
sparked the project. Her expertise working within a safeguarding team had already 

Page 85



6

given her an insight into why homeless people use healthcare services more 
frequently. 

However, it was a winter stint volunteering at a local night shelter that provided her 
with deeper knowledge of how this group experiences inequalities and barriers to 
care. She was able to identify those who attend ED on a frequent basis and sought 
to find ways to provide better care and reduce A&E attendances while aligning 
process with The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 (HRA) were the central planks of 
the project.

Trying a different approach was key 
Data was used to identify a trend in homeless people using A&E. The idea was to 
identify a homeless person at the ‘front door’ of ED and provide care for them over a 
few days, as this could reduce the time they spent in hospital in the longer term.

A cultural shift in attitudes towards people who are homeless has driven 
success
Staff working in ED have experienced a cultural shift after being taught about the tri-
morbidity of homelessness (which means a homeless person is more likely to suffer 
from mental ill health, physical ill health, and substance misuse and at the same time 
is likely to access services). Education about homelessness empowered 
professionals to swiftly identify the risks to patients who experience tri-morbidity so 
that support can be put in place sooner. 

GHT’s Safeguarding Team worked closely with the P3 charity which provides 
housing support services and homelessness prevention among other support. The 
data shows how effective the project has been. Looking at a sample of 10 patients, 
analysis covered 11 months before and after the implementation of a personalised 
support plan (PSP) by the Homeless Specialist Nurse and the P3 in-reach hospital 
navigator and/or ELIM Time to Heal housing officer. These 10 homeless patients 
collectively attended ED 221 times during the 11 months before their plans began 
and 52 times during the 11 months after their plans started. As expected, the 
decrease in ED attendances caused the total hours spent in ED by these 10 patients 
across 11 months to decrease from 900 hours to 226 hours. Since plans for these 10 
patients took root, comparing 11 months pre-plan to 11 months post-plan, there has 
been a total reduction of 161 ED attendances. This equates to 674 hours spent in 
the Emergency Department. 

Also for those who attend ED on a frequent basis the top 10 in the Trust used to 
include some rough sleepers (as is the case regionally and nationally). Currently 
there is not a homeless person in top 30 of those who attend the ED the most and 
none of the top 10 are homeless. This is a striking comparison with 2020 when 
seven out of the top 10 of those who attended ED were homeless. GHNHSFT is the 

Page 86



7

only acute trust in the South West which currently has no homeless people who 
attend the trust on a frequent basis.

Partnership Working the Strength of this project 
Working as a partnership between clinicians, commissioners and local services has 
meant a huge reduction in ‘bed days’ (the number of days during which a hospital 
bed is occupied). Close working between health, housing and support providers has 
also significantly reduced police and ambulance time as the person becomes more 
settled generally and begins to reduce reliance on emergency service contact.

1.3 Health and Social Care Recruitment Day 
The Integrated Care System (ICS) partners joined together to organise and run a 
major recruitment day specifically targeted at recruiting into Health and Social Care 
jobs. The event followed a dynamic new format, which gave people the chance to 
walk in and get screened, registered and interviewed on the day. Candidates were 
told immediately if they were successful. 

Partners from health including Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 
(GHFT), Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC), 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and the independent sector joined forces to 
host this one stop shop to fast-track candidates into job opportunities within health 
and social care in Gloucestershire.

The event was widely publicised across local and social media with 270 job offers on 
the day. As at the 16th November 16 candidates have either started or are ready to 
start and going through induction process, 52 candidates have withdrawn or been 
rejected due to visa issues, 13 transferred to organisation’s staff banks and the 
remaining 189 are going through the pre-employment check process. 

The event had a real ‘buzz’ around it with staff from across health and social care in 
Gloucestershire enjoying the experience of recruiting together, while candidates 
found the information session and set up of the day well organised and smooth, 
allowing for offers to be made immediately. A short film was made of the event and 
can be viewed here Health and Social Care Worker Recruitment Event – YouTube 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NwT81zxVYkg

1.4 Equality Delivery System 2022
The Equality Delivery System (EDS) is a system that helps NHS organisations 
improve the services they provide for their local communities and provide better 
working environments, free of discrimination, for those who work in the NHS, while 
meeting the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

Technical guidance on the third version of the Equality Delivery System (EDS) was 
published in August 2022. It aims to provide assurance or actions for equality 

Page 87

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NwT81zxVYkg


8

improvement relating to services, workforce and leadership. The new guidance 
describes EDS 2022 as a generic system that has been designed for both NHS 
commissioners and NHS providers, but best applied in partnership across ICS.

Implementation by NHS provider organisations is mandatory, through the NHS 
Standard Contract. NHS Commissioning systems are required to demonstrate 
‘robust implementation’ of the EDS as set out in the Oversight Framework. EDS 
reviews should be carried out annually, with results feeding into the setting of 
strategic, corporate and equality objectives, annual reporting of progress on the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and Quality Accounts.

The EDS comprises eleven outcomes spread across three Domains: 
 Domain 1 Commissioned or provided services (4 outcomes); 
 Domain 2 Workforce health and well-being (4 outcomes); and 
 Domain 3 Inclusive leadership (3 outcomes). 

The outcomes are evaluated, scored, and rated using available evidence and insight. 
The process needs to take account of the nine ‘protected characteristics’ and those 
who suffer health inequalities, e.g. deprivation, veterans, carers, etc. Each of the 
three domains is assessed using a range of data and ‘community’ insight. The 
assessment and gradings should be tested with independent parties, which could 
include a local Healthwatch, grassroots or umbrella VCSE organisation

System ED&I leads in health have agreed to work together on Domain 1 and have 
collectively agreed the following approach:
 
Domain 1: Commissioned or provided services 

 This year we will review two service areas: Cancer Services and Translation & 
Interpretation Services (including implementation of Accessible Information 
Standard). 

 Feedback gathered through engagement, quality improvement programmes 
and external reports has informed this selection and will be used for the 
assessment. Assessment will be tested by ICB Working with People & 
Communities Advisory Board* 

Domain 2: Workforce health and well-being 
 Each organisation will review relevant data sources including Workforce Race 

Equality Standards and Workforce Disability Standards. 
 Assessment will be actively tested through structured engagement with staff, 

staff networks and trade unions. 

Domain 3: Inclusive leadership 

Page 88



9

 Each organisation will review relevant data sources including board papers, 
training, Executive/Chair reports, Stakeholder Briefings to assess how Board 
members and other senior leaders have demonstrated where they actively 
promoted equality as part of their role. 

Assessments will be tested by ICB Working with People & Communities Advisory 
Board. 

The ICB Working with People & Communities Advisory Board is being established to 
assure the ICB that the voice of people and communities is represented and heard, 
and that their insight inform decisions of the planning, development, design, 
redesign, implementation, and evaluation of commissioned services. Membership 
includes lay representation from: Healthwatch Gloucestershire; Inclusion 
Gloucestershire; Black Business Network; Partnership Boards; VCSE Alliance; 
Experts by Experience; and other VCS partners. The People & Communities 
Advisory Board will provide an independent assessment of assessment of services 
undertaken by system partners for Domain 1 and will undertake an assessment of 
Domain 3 on inclusive leadership. 

The findings with recommendation for delivering the requirements of EDS 22 will be 
presented to system partners’ Boards, a report will come to the ICB Board for its 
meeting on 25th January. EDS 22 reports will subsequently be made available on 
each organisation’s website by February 2023.

1.5 Fit for the Future (FFTF) - Update and next steps
At its meeting at the end of November 2022, the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care Board agreed that no further FFTF phase 2 public involvement/ public 
consultation activities are required and that an FFTF phase 2 Decision-Making 
Business Case (DMBC) should be developed based on the 5 services in scope 
moving to implementation, with the DMBC presented to GHFT and ICB Boards in 
March 2023 for approval.

This decision followed on from the discussion at HOSC in October 2022 during 
which it was evident that HOSC Members did not raise any concerns with the level of 
public involvement activities completed to date, in phase 1 and phase 2, and there 
were no further requests for public involvement on the proposed changes in scope of 
phase 2. In addition, NHS England had confirmed that, should a decision be taken 
by the NHS Gloucestershire ICB that they were content that the public involvement 
undertaken has met their duties to involve the public, there would no longer be a 
requirement to extend the Stage 2 process to include formal public consultation. 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Board has also approved the 
recommendation that no further FFTF phase 2 public involvement/ public 

Page 89



10

consultation activities are required and to proceed to Decision-making Business 
Case.

1.6 Improving access to diagnostic tests in Gloucestershire
A new diagnostic centre offering X-rays, MRI, CT, ultrasound, ECHO and DEXA 
scanning to patients across Gloucestershire is set to open in the centre of 
Gloucester during autumn 2023.

The £15m Community Diagnostic Centre (CDC) is the first in the South West to be 
approved by NHS England, meaning that work on the County Council owned 
building in Quayside can now get underway, with Kier as the construction contractor.
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) partners are working together to 
oversee the development which will provide patients with the diagnostic tests they 
need in a convenient location, quickly, and in the fewest possible number of visits.

The new centre will open in phases, with CT and MRI services operational by March 
2023 and a full range of service available from October 2023.

While the new facility provides enhanced diagnostic services, patients will still be 
able to have X rays and other imaging procedures carried out at existing hospital 
sites, including community hospitals, when appropriate.

1.7 There’s No Place Like Home: campaign to help care for patients at home
Health and care organisations in Gloucestershire continue to work together in 
making patients and their families more aware of the benefits of recovering at home, 
just as soon as they are well enough to leave hospital.

The ‘There’s No Place Like Home’ campaign raises awareness of the benefits of 
recovering at home and provides access to a range of support and is a joint 
programme between Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust, NHS Gloucestershire ICB 
and Gloucestershire County Council.

Being in a hospital during a period of acute illness is the right place to be. However, 
there’s lots of evidence that shows once that acute phase is over, hospitals are not 
the best place for recovery and rehabilitation where surroundings are unfamiliar, 
mobility is more limited and good sleep less easy to come by.

As part of the campaign, an information leaflet and checklist will be shared with 
inpatients, families and their carers raising awareness of the benefits of recovering at 
home.

Page 90



11

Why there really is no place like home

Physical strength: If you stay in bed for long periods you lose mobility, 
fitness and muscle strength. This makes it harder for you to regain your 
independence. Getting up, dressed and moving helps maintain muscle 
strength and your ability to do things for yourself.

Rest: Good sleep is essential for a long and healthy life but it’s even more 
important when you’re recovering from an injury or illness. Hospitals are busy 
places, often with patients and staff coming and going throughout the night 
and many patients struggle to get a good night’s sleep which can lead to 
sleep deprivation. There’s no bed like your own bed when it comes to getting 
a good night’s sleep.

Mental wellbeing: Being in familiar surroundings with support from your 
friends and families is one of the best things for mental wellbeing. Hospitals 
are unfamiliar and can be very confusing, which increases your risk of 
developing delirium (sudden confusion).

Infection: When you’re unwell you’re often less resistant to infections. We do 
everything we can to prevent you from developing an infection but the risk is 
usually lower at home where there are fewer unwell people under one roof.

For more information: https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/news/theres-no-place-like-home-
campaign-to-help-care-for-patients-at-home-2/

Page 91

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/news/theres-no-place-like-home-campaign-to-help-care-for-patients-at-home-2/
https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/news/theres-no-place-like-home-campaign-to-help-care-for-patients-at-home-2/


12

2. Section 2: NHS Gloucestershire ICB primary 
medical care commissioning update 

These items are for information and noting.

2.1 New Medical Centre in Stroud
The redevelopment of Number 1 King Street in Stroud is nearing the completion of 
its extensive programme of construction works, dramatically changing the landscape 
of this area of the town. Central to the work is the brand new £6.5m medical centre 
which will become the new home of two of the town’s established GP practices, 
Locking Hill Surgery and Stroud Valleys Family Practice which have now merged to 
become Five Valleys Medical Practice. 

The fully refurbished building will house the medical practice, a new first floor 
physiotherapy and podiatry suite operated by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust as well as well as a new library, a coffee shop and office facilities. 
The development is a key part of Dransfield Properties’ work in the centre of Stroud 
and the redevelopment of the Five Valleys Shopping Centre, which to date has seen 
in excess of £25m of investment. 

The new medical centre will provide new and improved GP services for more than 
15,000 patients and will link with our shopping centre, Five Valleys, as well as having 
excellent local transport links. The two GP practices have outgrown their current 
buildings and the new, modern facility will give them room to grow as well as allow 
them to extend the range of services they provide, expand training opportunities and 
support patients with complex needs who require more specialist treatment. 

The relocated physiotherapy and podiatry services will also be merged into one 
comprehensive clinic, as part of work to ensure best use of their estate and provide 
high quality premises. The new facilities will offer much improved accessibility for 
patients, being in a central part of the town within a short two-minute walk of the train 
and bus stations, a taxi rank and other amenities, including pharmacies. Work on 
Stroud’s new medical centre is scheduled to complete at the end of November, with 
the opening of the library to follow in the New Year

2.2 Physiotherapists Working Within GP Practices Rated “Outstanding” By 
Patients
Over the past two years, GP surgeries have adapted the way consultations can be 
offered to keep patients safe and make sure those with the greatest need are seen 
first. This means that patients can now benefit from the expertise of a range of 
professionals within surgery teams, such as nurses, pharmacists, physiotherapists 

Page 92



13

and social prescribers, and surgery teams can consult with patients as efficiently as 
possible in ways that work best for everyone.

The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy has been looking at the benefits of patients 
seeing physiotherapists as their first contact within primary care (First Contact 
Physiotherapy (FCP) and has produced a video highlighting these benefits. FCP 
Case Study: Insight from colleagues at Central Cheltenham PCN - YouTube

The video showcases Central Cheltenham Primary Care Network (PCN) which has 
an FCP service delivered by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
(GHC). This service has received high praise from both GPs and patients alike who 
are benefiting from the clinical expertise of FCPs (which includes things like being 
able to give joint injections and sign Fit Notes).

Experience feedback to date shows that 95% of patients who have accessed the 
service have reported that they would be very happy to use it again if they 
experienced any other MSK problems. In addition, feedback collected by GHC 
indicates that most patients rate the service as either “outstanding” or “excellent”.

3. Section 3: Local Providers’ updates 
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC), Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(GHT) and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST).

These items are for information and noting.

3.1 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 

3.1.1 Operational Context
The Trust has experienced an unprecedented period of operational challenge, 
(which is consistent with the national picture) and has led to longer waiting times in 
our emergency departments, a deterioration in ambulance handover times and 
ambulance community response times and higher levels of patients being cared for 
in temporary settings. This position has been exacerbated by the acuity of patients 
being admitted, which means that length of stay is extended, and therefore daily 
discharges lower and the opportunity to divert people away from the front door 
reduced.

The system and Trust response has been exceptional and testimony to this is the 
fact that Gloucestershire was the final system to declare OPEL Level 4 recently 
across the South West (a measure of whole system pressure). That said, the 

Page 93

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_QEXF1A80KI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_QEXF1A80KI


14

pressure upon staff across health and care has been extreme and considerable 
focus is being placed on how we can support staff given the likelihood of these 
conditions persisting. This includes reviewing the models that served us well during 
the early phases of the pandemic, such as the Psychology Link Worker model and 
TRIM (Trauma Risk Management) Practitioner support.

3.1.2 Supporting our colleagues
The Trust has announced that they will reinstate a 50% discount on meals as well as 
free hot drinks and bottled water from Monday 16 January until the end of March 
2023.  This was something the Trust did throughout COVID to ensure colleagues 
were able to get refreshments and take a well-earned break. 

In addition to the discount, staff will be able to get free porridge and soup from 
Fosters and Blue Spa restaurants and free soup from our two Sweet Success café 
outlets, which are based in our education centres. 

The Trust knows that many colleagues continue to be directly affected by the cost-of-
living crisis, in addition to the huge challenges and demands on hospital services. 
The aim is to provide all the support possible, so that colleagues know just how 
valued they are, and to ensure everyone has the opportunity to have food and 
refreshments, take breaks and look after their wellbeing as they care for others.  

3.1.3 Elective Care
Despite challenges, and at odds with many systems, the Trust has not cancelled any 
cancer patient due to operational pressures in the last month. Huge credit is due to 
the operational teams that have enabled us to hold this position, along with the 
leadership from Qadar Zada, Chief Operating Officer. In light of concerns expressed 
by the Care Quality Commission, significant scrutiny continues on the use of theatre 
recovery and, to date, no elective patient has been cared for in theatre recovery 
overnight.

3.1.4 Industrial Action
During the national Royal College of Nursing (RCN) strikes of 15 and 20 

December, 527 Trust employees took part in industrial action over the two days. The 
Trust was pleased to be able to support staff to exercise their right to strike, whilst 
keeping hospitals safe. The Trust worked closely with RCN colleagues and teams 
whilst also responding to some additional challenges including heavy snowfall and 
the burst water pipes affecting Gloucestershire!

Services, particularly Emergency Departments (ED), were also significantly impacted 
by strike action from paramedics who are members of GMB and Unison, on 
21December 2022 and 11January 2023. Planning ensured that teams worked hard 
across divisions and with South West Ambulance Trust (SWAST) colleagues to 
facilitate additional cohorting of patients at ED.  Patients were triaged as quickly as 

Page 94



15

possible and focused discharges ensured as many people as possible were home in 
time for Christmas.

Further industrial action6 is currently set to take place over the coming weeks (23 
January for paramedics, 26 January and 9 February for Chartered Society of 
Physiotherapy members) and planning is active including reviewing and responding 
to the insights from previous strikes. The national RCN industrial action planned for 
18 and 19 January did not affect the Trust, this time. At the time of writing, the 
outcome of the ballot for industrial action amongst members of the Hospital 
Consultants and Specialists Association is awaited, whereas the ballot of midwives 
did not meet the threshold for industrial action. The vast majority of the members of 
the Chartered Society of Physiotherapists supported strike action although dates for 
industrial action have yet to be confirmed. Finally, the British Medical Association 
(BMA) has signaled their intention to ballot members in respect of proposed 
industrial action.

3.1.5 Care Quality Commission – Progress  
The Care Quality Commission Improvement Notice issued in November 2022 
following their inspection of radiotherapy services has now been removed. Overall, 
the inspection was very positive but nevertheless it is good to have achieved 
compliance with all requirements, so quickly after the initial inspection. 
In addition, maternity services were given outstanding feedback in the CQC 2022 
National Maternity Survey, published on 11 January 2023. The Trust was rated 
highly among the 121 acute NHS trusts that took part in the CQC Survey.
 
Given the considerable challenges that maternity services have faced over the last 
year, the Trust and partners are delighted with these results. It is wonderful to see 
the many areas where the Trust is delivering great care, which is clearly valued by 
women and families in Gloucestershire. 
 
This feedback is exceptional and everyone delivering maternity care should feel 
extremely proud of these results, congratulations to everyone involved.
 
The survey results reveal the responses from women who had given birth during 
February 2022. A total of 228 service users in Gloucestershire completed the survey, 
which asked questions about all aspects of their maternity care from the first time 
they saw a clinician or midwife, during labour and birth, through to the care provided 
at home following the arrival of their baby.
 
It was particularly pleasing to see that the Trust had better than average scores in 
the survey’s national benchmarked findings for the following questions:
 

6 Further industrial action may be announced between the drafting of this report and the HOSC meeting

Page 95



16

 81% found their partner was able to stay with them as long as they wanted (in 
hospital after birth) against an average score of 41%

 75% saw their midwife as much as they wanted in the postnatal period 
against an average score of 63%

 90% were given sufficient information about where to have their baby against 
an average score of 79%

 95% were given enough support for mental health during pregnancy against 
an average of 85%

 83% were not left alone when worried during labour and birth against an 
average of 73%

 
Everyone involved in providing maternity care at the Trust are understandably very 
pleased with the feedback from the people who use local services, and are a critical 
part of how the Trust continues to develop services around people’s experiences.  

3.1.6 Maternity service provision 
In order to ensure safe service provision a number of temporary service changes 
have been implemented across the county. These are set out below. The Trust 
would like to reiterate previous assurances about our long-term commitment to the 
future of both Stroud Maternity Unit (SMU) and Cheltenham Aveta.  

Summary of temporary changes (set out in more detail in the Memorandum of 
Understanding Proforma at Appendix 1):

3.1.6a Cheltenham Aveta Birth Unit

The Cheltenham Aveta birth unit will remain closed for labour and birth
 All other services at the unit, including planned antenatal care, continue to be 

provided. 
 In exiting news, the Trust can confirm that a bid for a new, purpose-built birth 

centre on the Cheltenham General Hospital site has been successful, which 
will offer an improved location and facilities.  More details on this will follow.

3.1.6b Stroud Maternity

Stroud Maternity is open but the Postnatal beds will remain closed
 Postnatal care for families in Stroud continues to be available in the first 6/12 hours 

post birth in Stroud birthing rooms after which families are discharged home. If a 
mother or baby born at Stroud needs postnatal care that requires on-going in 
hospital monitoring, this will be accommodated on our Maternity Ward at GRH 

 The community midwifery service in Stroud remains unchanged. Women are offered 
home visits or the opportunity to attend a postnatal clinic run by midwives in the 
postnatal period

Page 96



17

 Breastfeeding parent support is available at the Unit. 

3.1.6c Gloucestershire Royal Hospital Maternity Services
All GHT services at the Gloucester Birth Unit and the Central Delivery Suite, both in 
the Women’s Centre at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH), are unaffected by 
these temporary changes. 

3.1.6d Home births
The Trust continues to offer planned home births but there may be rare occasions 
when it is not safe to do so due to staffing challenges and this is reviewed on a case-
by-case basis. 

3.1.6e Recruitment and retention update
The dedicated midwifery recruitment team has implemented several targeted 
initiatives. Although the Trust has recruited several new midwives over the last few 
months and have seven more new midwives starting in February and March, this 
must be balanced against maternity leave, sickness absence and resignations. This 
challenging environment is a national issue, as outlined by the Royal College of 
Midwives7 this month.

With staffing levels remaining uncertain, these limited temporary suspensions will be 
reviewed again in April this year, when the Trust hopes to provide a more detailed 
picture of the likely timeline for the reinstatement of these services.

The safety of all babies, women and birthing people remains the guiding principle 
behind every difficult decision. The Trust strives to retain as much choice as possible 
for women and families within the difficult circumstances it is currently operating in 
and apologise to everyone who continues to be affected by the difficult choices it is 
having to make.

3.1.7 Managing Winter Pressures 
The Trust has opened two new services, which were a central part of our Winter 
Plan. On 29 December 2022 the Trust opened the first local dedicated winter 
pressures ward, on Prescott ward at Cheltenham General Hospital. This ward is 
intended to “flex” to provide additional and much needed capacity during winter and 
to be utilised in quieter periods as a “decant” ward to enable decoration and 
refurbishment of wards that would otherwise result in loss of beds. 

On 3 January 2023 the Trust opened the long-awaited Discharge Lounge at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. This modular build, which was enabled following the 
Trust’s successful bid against national capital for initiatives, is aimed at reducing 

7 https://www.rcm.org.uk/news-views/rcm-opinion/2019/england-short-of-almost-2-500-midwives-new-birth-figures-
confirm/ 

Page 97

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.rcm.org.uk%2Fnews-views%2Frcm-opinion%2F2019%2Fengland-short-of-almost-2-500-midwives-new-birth-figures-confirm%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cjames.brown12%40nhs.net%7Cf3c6c23ab2ea4c7ecfc508daf973009f%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638096570434800934%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ro%2BC%2BGEhCGFtoS8ZZlSY7rSQ3SDq%2BbSezpwbRnD0l3Q%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.rcm.org.uk%2Fnews-views%2Frcm-opinion%2F2019%2Fengland-short-of-almost-2-500-midwives-new-birth-figures-confirm%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cjames.brown12%40nhs.net%7Cf3c6c23ab2ea4c7ecfc508daf973009f%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638096570434800934%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ro%2BC%2BGEhCGFtoS8ZZlSY7rSQ3SDq%2BbSezpwbRnD0l3Q%3D&reserved=0
https://www.rcm.org.uk/news-views/rcm-opinion/2019/england-short-of-almost-2-500-midwives-new-birth-figures-confirm/
https://www.rcm.org.uk/news-views/rcm-opinion/2019/england-short-of-almost-2-500-midwives-new-birth-figures-confirm/


18

ambulance handover delays, can accommodate 29 patients awaiting discharge from 
GRH, including patients in beds and trolleys. The evidence is compelling with 
respect to the impact on flow and ED congestion if a patient’s planned discharge 
from the ward can be affected even a few hours sooner. All wards are being asked to 
identify patients suitable for early transfer to the lounge the night before.

3.1.8 NHS England priorities and operational planning guidance2023/24
On 23 December 2022, NHS England published the 2023/24 priorities and 
operational planning guidance. The guidance lays out “three key tasks” for the NHS 
and describes the immediate priority to be, to recover core services and productivity; 
secondly, as we recover, to make progress in delivering the key ambitions set out in 
the NHS Long Term Plan; and thirdly, to continue to transform the NHS for the 
future.

Within these broad headings are some clear measures by which success will be 
judged; the following are the key metrics against which acute trust performance will 
be judged: 

 Improving ambulance response times to an average of 30 minutes for Category 2 
calls, with an expectation of achieving pre-pandemic response times and/or the 
existing national standard of 18 minutes. Gloucestershire’s performance for 
December was 122 minutes, a deterioration on performance in November of 42 
minutes.

 Improve A&E waiting times so that no less than 76% of patients are seen within 4 
hours by March 2024 – the current standard is 95%. The Trusts performance for 
December was 54%.

 Eliminate waits of over 65 weeks for elective care by March 2024 – currently the 
Trust has 356 patients waiting more than 65 weeks against a SW region system 
average of 2,859 and within a range of 356 to 8,510

 Increase the percentage of patients that receive a diagnostic test within 6 weeks 
– the Trust currently achieves this standard

 Meet the cancer Faster Diagnosis Standard by March 2024 so that 75% of 
patients referred with suspected cancer are diagnosed or have cancer ruled out 
within 28 days of referral - the Trust currently meets this standard

 Increase fill rates against funded establishments in midwifery services whilst 
continuing to make progress towards the national ambition to reduce stillbirth, 
neonatal and maternal mortality, and serious intrapartum brain injury.

Page 98



19

3.2 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC)

3.2.1 Step into Health Programme
The support GHC gives to serving military personnel, veterans and military families 
is set to be enhanced through membership of the national Step into Health 
Programme (SITH). SITH is delivered through partnership between military 
organisations and the NHS. It supports increased recruitment of members of the 
armed forces community, including people leaving military service with additional 
needs.

The Trust is already a proud signatory of the Armed Forces Covenant and achieved 
the Employer Recognition Silver Covenant Award recently. GHC is also an 
accredited Veteran Aware Trust. Joining SITH is another step forward in enhancing 
what we can offer veterans and military families, particularly through employment 
opportunities.
There are more than 900,000 military veterans of working age in the UK. Many have 
backgrounds in business areas such as operations, logistics and HR and the skills, 
values and attributes of the majority of veterans closely aligns with those of the NHS.

3.2.2 Wellbeing Line Update
The Wellbeing service for people working in health and social care across 
Gloucestershire will be funded by the ICB for 2023/24, in light of the local priority to 
support staff health and wellbeing. The Wellbeing Line, which is hosted by GHC, was 
initially funded by NHS England as part of a national scheme to support doctors, 
nurses, health care assistants, allied health professionals and care professionals 
following the Covid pandemic. National funding has now ended, but locally we have 
decided to continue supporting the service in light of the continued pressure 
colleagues are under. 

The Wellbeing Line team includes two clinical psychologists, two assistant 
psychologists and two support colleagues. The service, which has supported more 
than 1,000 colleagues in its first year, is provided in addition to organisational 
occupational health services, and has very short waiting times, with no need to 
complete a referral form. 

3.2.3 Royal Visit to Allotment
Her Royal Highness The Princess Royal visited a newly developed therapeutic 
allotment which is helping people with mental health conditions on their road to 
recovery. 

The allotment, off Horton Road, in Gloucester, is managed by service users, 
occupational therapists and other colleagues from the Montpellier Unit. As patron of 
the Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT) Her Royal Highness was 

Page 99



20

given a tour of the site and an opportunity to learn more about the benefits it brings 
to a wide range of people.  

The allotment site has been significantly refurbishment in recent months, including 
new fishponds, a nature area, a chicken run and an aviary and areas to grow and 
cultivate produce, which is used in cookery programmes. As well as being used by 
the services users from the Montpellier Unit, other teams and local services now also 
benefit from the spending time in the allotment and developing their skills. 
Future plans include a new building where more activities can take place especially 
during bad weather, and work to make the site fully accessible to people with limited 
mobility.

3.3 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - Update

3.3.1 Trust 2022/23 Plan Update

Emergency Operation Centres recruitment: SWASFT is pleased to report an 
increase in resources within the EOCs; particularly in relation to the number of 
dispatchers and 999 call handlers (EMDs) recruited.

o Year-to-date growth in 999 call handlers (EMD) = 17%
o Year-to-date growth in dispatch = 27%

3.3.2 New Board Appointments 
Jane Chandler will join the Trust in February 2023 as executive director of quality 
patient care following Jenny Winslade’s departure as executive director of quality 
and clinical care last July. Jane has been deputy chief nurse at the Royal Berkshire 
NHS Foundation Trust for eight years, where she has been dedicating her time to 
ensuring the highest quality of safe and compassionate care to patients. 

Justine McGuinness has been appointed into the new role of director of 
communications and public affairs – she joins SWASFT in February from The 
Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and brings a wealth of NHS experience, 
with a long history of working in public affairs. 

Neil Lentern will join SWASFT in Spring 2023 into a new role of director of 
paramedic practice. He will be responsible for influencing and shaping policy and 
clinical transformation both within the Trust and as part of the wider health and social 
care system. 

Page 100



21

3.3.3 Celebrating Success 

College of Paramedics and South Western Ambulance Service sign agreement
The College of Paramedics and SWASFT have entered into a landmark agreement 
to work together to promote and distribute a new Practice Educator course to be 
used as a national standard for the paramedic profession. Created initially for 
SWASFT and written by the trust’s Learning and Development Officer, Lizzie Ryan, 
the non-accredited, e-learning Practice Educator course will now be offered free of 
charge to every ambulance trust in the UK and every university delivering Health and 
Care Professions Council (HCPC) approved paramedic programmes. It is hoped that 
this national approach will help improve patient safety and offer effective practice-
based learning for frontline staff.

Ambulance service wins national award for new system that helps vulnerable 
patients
A new IT system which has transformed how SWASFT identifies and helps 
vulnerable patients, has won a national award. SWASFT teamed up with Exeter-
based Iridium Consulting to create the Frequent Caller Management System 
(FCMS), which has won the Best Healthcare Management Solution category in the 
Health Tech Digital Awards 2022. The system was developed in Exeter and Bristol 
but serves patients from across the whole of the South West region from the Isles of 
Scilly to North Gloucestershire. FCMS is the first system of its kind in the UK that 
automatically identifies any individual who meets the criteria of being a frequent 
caller to 999 and who contacts the ambulance service from within its geographical 
area.

4. Recommendations
This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are invited to note the 
contents.

Dame Gill Morgan Mary Hutton 
Chair Chief Executive
NHS Gloucestershire ICB NHS Gloucestershire ICB

January 2023

Page 101



22

Appendix 1

Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature or a proposed service variation

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHSFT

Lead Manager and contact details

Lisa Stephens, Head of Midwifery / Deputy Divisional Director of Quality
0300 422 2375 
Lisa.stephens10@nhs.net

Details of the current service
GNHSFT Maternity Service

Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation NHS Trust provides a large maternity 
service for the county in which circa 6,000 babies are delivered each year. 

• The maternity service comprises

• Community midwifery service with home birth service 

• Continuity of Carer Teams 

• Maternity Advice Line (hosted at SWAST/Triage)

• Obstetric antenatal clinics (Gloucester, Stroud and Cheltenham)

• Maternity Day Assessment

• Maternity Triage 

• Delivery suite based at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital with Obstetric 
Theatres 

• Three midwifery led birth units, one co-located at Gloucestershire 
Royal and two standalone units at Cheltenham and Stroud

Details of the proposed change to service

Due to on-going midwifery staffing challenges, to:
 extend the temporary closure of Cheltenham General (AVETA) Birth Unit for 

labour and birth,
 extend the temporary closure of postnatal beds at the Stroud Birth Unit.

At the AVETA Birthing Unit, all other services will remain open, included planned 
antenatal care.

Page 102

mailto:Lisa.stephens10@nhs.net


23

Stroud Maternity Birthing Unit remains open for births and postnatal care for 
families in the first 6 to 12 hours post birth will continue, after which families will be 
discharged home. If a mother or baby born at Stroud needs postnatal care that 
requires on-going in hospital monitoring, this will be accommodated on our 
Maternity Ward at GRH.

The community midwifery service in Stroud also remains unchanged. Women are 
offered home visits or the opportunity to attend a postnatal clinic run by midwives 
in the postnatal period.  Breastfeeding parent support is also available at the Unit.

Timescales involved

3-month extension, with the staffing position reviewed again in April 2023. 

What is the reason for the proposed service change?

In response to a range of Midwifery workforce challenges, a difficult decision was 
made to close the Cheltenham Aveta Birthing Unit for labour and births from 5th 
April 2022 and six post-natal beds at Stroud Maternity unit from 1st October 2022. 

In discussion with partners, it was agreed this decision would be reviewed by our 
senior team in Maternity in early January 2023, against progress made on Midwife 
recruitment, sickness and absence levels.

This review happened in w/c 9th January 2023 and the decision is that these 
services will remain closed. 

Summary of key issues driving this temporary change:

 National shortage of midwives
 Local vacancies related to recruitment and turnover
 Increased short- and long-term sickness
 Increased Maternity leave
 Vital Quality Improvement workstreams depleting clinical midwifery 

headcount.
Workforce Challenge

Maternity service provision is needed to continue regardless of workforce 
pressures and maintenance of the service is therefore a priority. Labour and birth 
is frequently unplanned and whilst there is some elective work (Elective 
Caesarean Section and Induction of labour) this is usually related to maternal or 
fetal concern and therefore there is a limitation in postponing this workload. 

In addition, antenatal and postnatal care within the hospital and community is an 
essential service to maintain safety for women, birthing people and their families. 
Maintenance of essential services for those families who are most vulnerable, 
particularly with safeguarding needs are vital.  

Page 103



24

A flexible workforce, working across the service, consolidating midwifery and 
obstetric staff in key priority areas is a key principle of any planning associated 
with workforce absence. 

Allocation of staff and subsequent redeployment when necessary is based on the 
level of clinical activity across the service. The national quality standard of one-to-
one care in labour means that service providers need to ensure that the 
recommended midwifery staffing ratios are maintained so that women in 
established labour have one-to-one care and support from an assigned midwife. 

Vacancy Rate

The vacancy rate is improving at a slow rate. Initiatives to improve workforce 
include:

• A significant recruitment and retention plan

• Dedicated recruitment and retention team

• Midwifery staffing is on the risk register (score of 20)

• International recruitment

• Short term incentives

Graph: Midwifery Vacancy rate (Jan 22-Nov 22)

Has any involvement taken place to date?

Communication has been shared regularly with staff, service users, our partners 
within the Local Neonatal and Maternity System (LMNS), Maternity Voices 
Partnership (MVP) and other key stakeholders. 

Some partners have helped us design these communications to help 
understanding and improve our reach.

Page 104



25

Maternity strategy events are being undertaken in each locality to engage, inform, 
share and promote a joint vision of the future of Maternity services within 
Gloucestershire. 

Expected impact of proposed change and what is being done to address this

Patients, unpaid 
carers, people and 
communities affected

(the demographic 
assumptions that have 
been made)

Primary impact on those who would have given birth at 
Cheltenham Birth Unit, with alternative provision now 
provided at Gloucester Birth unit or Stroud Birth unit.

For postnatal care, if a mother or baby born at Stroud 
needs postnatal care beyond 12 hours that requires on-
going in-hospital monitoring, this will be accommodated 
on our Maternity Ward at GRH.

The changes in 
accessibility

(i.e. transport issues/ 
opening hours etc)

Maternity services operate 24/7 

The changes in 
methods of delivery 

(venue / practitioner)

Staff are working flexibly across maternity services to 
support care of service users. 

No changes to Antenatal care, changes to postnatal 
care are detailed above. 

Impact upon other 
services

No impact on Antenatal care

Wider implications

(consider effects on 
community safety/ local 
economy etc)

Impact of temporary service changes are being 
monitored, for example an increase in the number of 
home births.

Equality/ Inequality 
issues

(how will it help achieve 
health improvement 
goals and reduce 
inequalities?)

The Continuity of Care team based in Cheltenham is 
retained and the team links with those in the highest 
areas of deprivation. 

Page 105



26

Name of person 
completing this pro-
forma

Lisa Stephens (Head of Midwifery)

Simon Pirie (Chief of Service – Womens & 
Childrens) 

Date proforma 
completed

17th January 2023

Page 106



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

 
HOSC Work Plan Items ASCC Work Plan Items

Future Items: 

1. Suicide/Mental Health Support: At the ASCC meeting on 6 September 2022, 
the committee proposed a joint review (ASCC and HOSC) of work to support 
people of all ages at risk of taking their own lives. 

2. Review Winter Sustainability and Surge Management Plan 2022/23 
ASCC members will be invited to join the meeting remotely to consider and ask 
questions on this item.

Future items: 

1. Suicide/Mental Health Support: At the ASCC meeting on 6 September 2022, the 
committee proposed a joint review (ASCC and HOSC) of work to support people of 
all ages at risk of taking their own lives.

2. Action on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Gloucestershire 
Collaboration Presentation. 

3. Recommendation to the Environment Scrutiny Committee that the committee, 
(Air Quality Management Task Group), consider the impact of air pollution from wood 
burners and the burning of other substances.

4. Behavioural Science – 6 Month Update 

5. Gloucestershire Combatting Drug Partnership Update 

6. Care Act Reform – Information Session to all Councillors 

HOSC – 14 March 2023 ASCC – 7 March 2023

 CQC Assurance Update (deferred from January 
meeting)

 Motion 908 (Violence Against Women) Report

HOSC – 31 January 2023 Notes ASCC – 24 January 2023 Notes

 NHS Gloucestershire ICB/ICP Integrated Care 
Strategy

 Ophthalmology

 Transformational Changes in Adult Social Care – 
Autumn Update

 Motion 908 (Violence Against Women) Introduction
 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2023 
 GSAB Annual Report
 Cost of Living Crisis

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 9



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

 Request from Corporate Scrutiny Committee (Dec 
2022) to consider the establishment of an ASCC 
scrutiny task group to look at social care staff 
shortages and retention. 

HOSC – 6 December 2022 Notes HOSC/ASCC Joint Committee Meeting 15 November 2022 Notes

 Dentistry 
 Mental Health 
 Ophthalmology – deferred to Jan 2022
 Possible CQC Inspection Update 

Add NHS Dentistry 
(following the 
transfer of  
responsibilities to 
NHS 
Gloucestershire) post 
April 2023 to the 
work plan for 
consideration at a 
future meeting.

 One item agenda: Scrutiny Review of Urgent and 
Emergency Care in Gloucestershire

HOSC – 18 October (Joint Meeting) Notes ASCC – 6 September 2022 Notes
 Joint Meeting with ASCC to consider the Winter 

Sustainability and Surge Management Plan 
2022/23

 Council Motion 881 - Tackling poverty and 
deprivation in Gloucestershire.
Members to consider a report in response to 
Council Motion 881, (Tackling Poverty and 
Deprivation in Gloucestershire). At the Council 
meeting on 8 September 2021, it was agreed to 
‘bring regular progress reports on the progress of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board’s seven strategic 
priorities to the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’. The report to include an update on 
the outcomes of the Gloucestershire Build Back 
Better Levelling Up Our Communities Conference 
held on 19 May 2022.

 FFTF2 – Consultation Outcomes Briefing 

 Voluntary and Community Sector/Covid-19 
Funding/Community Grant Scheme Update (a 
presentation from Di Billingham) 

 Signs and symptoms of suicide (to be followed up 
with an item on suicide risks and prevention at a later 
meeting)

 Behavioural Change.

P
age 108



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

HOSC – 12 July 2022 Notes ASCC – 5 July 2022 Notes
 Introduction to local screening and immunisation 

services presentation (a presentation from Dr 
Matthew Dominey - Consultant in Public 
Health/Screening and Immunisation Lead for NHS 
England and NHS Improvement – Southwest

 SWAST Presentation 

 GP Retention and Recruitment Update 

 Review Gloucestershire Memorandum of 
Understanding Process/Form 

FFTF2 – end of 
engagement 

 New Library Strategy 

 Civil Protection Team Presentation 

 Included in the ASC Information report at this 
meeting will be updates on: - 

i) The outcome of the OSJ consultation – 
ii) Progress on the planning arrangements for 

ASC reforms 
iii) Ageing Well Initiative

HOSC – 17 May 2022 Notes ASCC – 10 May 2022
 Fit for the Future 2 Update (including an update 

on the MOU’s considered at the March meeting). 

JUYI System Presentation (may form part of the 
ICS Information Report) 

FFTF2 – start of 
engagement

 Motion 890 (Domestic Abuse Review)
 Drug/Alcohol Contract Briefing

Trading Standards Presentation 

 Possible NHS Gloucestershire ICB/ICP 
Presentation to the Committee (to clarify the role 
of HOSC/scrutiny of the ICP)

 Transformational Changes in Adult Social Care – 
Autumn Update. 

 Director of Public Health Annual Report

Standard information reports (presented at each meeting) include: - 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee: - 

1. NHS One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Performance Report – a report on the performance of the Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) against NHS constitutional and other agreed standards.

2. One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) Update Report - a report from the One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB), 
known collectively as NHS Gloucestershire. The report to include updates from NHS representatives and partners responsible for overseeing the day-

P
age 109



Work Plan Items 2022-23 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

to-day running of the NHS in Gloucestershire, including the commissioning, (buying), of services and the development of plans to meet the health 
needs of the local population.

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee: - 
1. Quarterly Performance Report
2. Public Health Update Report 
3. Adult Social Care Report 
4. Chief Fire Officer Report 

P
age 110


	Agenda
	5 Ophthalmology
	Item 5 - Eye Health Presentation

	6 Gloucestershire Integrated Care Strategy
	Item 6 - Interim Integrated Care Strategy Document

	7 Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (GICS) Performance Report
	8 NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) Report
	9 Work Plan

